# STATE OF NEW YORK PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

CASE 15-M-0388 - Joint Petition of Charter Communications and Time Warner Cable for Approval of a Transfer of Control of Subsidiaries and Franchises, Pro Forma Reorganization, and Certain Financing Arrangements.

# ORDER GRANTING JOINT PETITION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

Issued and Effective: January 8, 2016

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND	6
NOTICE INVITING COMMENTS	9
STATUTORY TEST FOR APPROVAL	10
Scope of THE PUBLIC INTEREST ANALYSIS	22
THE JOINT PETITION	31
Network Investment	32
Network Modernization and Increased Speeds	36
Low-income Broadband Services	37
Customer Service	38
Enhanced Video Programming	39
Net Neutrality and Video Competition	39
Public Benefit Assessment	40
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS AND REPLY COMMENTS	41
Customer Service	42
Job Losses	43
Network Investment	43
Low-income and Broadband Availability	44
Network Modernization and Increased Speeds	46
Issuance of Debt	47
Miscellaneous Issues	48
MERGER CONDITIONS AND ENFORCEABILITY	49
Network Modernization and Increased Speeds	50
Network Speed Enhancements	51
Network Expansion	52
Low-income Broadband Services	55
Broadband Availability	59
Customer Service	62
Protection Against Job Losses	63
Miscellaneous Conditions	65
Data Caps	65
Most Favored State Clause	66

Enforcement	67
CONCLUSION	68
APPENDIX A - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL	
APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF COMMENTS	

# STATE OF NEW YORK PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

At a session of the Public Service Commission held in the City of Albany on January 8, 2016

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:

Audrey Zibelman, Chair Gregg C. Sayre Diane X. Burman

CASE 15-M-0388 - Joint Petition of Charter Communications and Time Warner Cable for Approval of a Transfer of Control of Subsidiaries and Franchises, Pro Forma Reorganization, and Certain Financing Arrangements.

ORDER GRANTING JOINT PETITION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

(Issued and Effective January 8, 2016)

BY THE COMMISSION:

#### INTRODUCTION

By Joint Petition filed July 2, 2015 (Joint Petition), Time Warner Cable Inc. (Time Warner or TWC) and Charter Communications, Inc. (Charter) (collectively, the Petitioners) request Commission authorization for a holding company-level transaction that would result in the transfer of control of Time Warner's New York subsidiaries to "New Charter."<sup>1</sup> A third entity, Bright House Networks, LLC (Bright House or BHN), a subsidiary of Advance/Newhouse Partnership, that is not a party to the Joint Petition and does not operate in New York, would also become part of New Charter following the proposed transaction. As structured, the proposed transaction involves

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The parent entity resulting from the merger will ultimately assume the name "Charter Communications, Inc."

all of Time Warner's New York broadband Internet, telephone, and cable television systems, franchises and assets.

Approval was initially requested under Public Service Law (PSL) §§100, 101 and 222.<sup>2</sup> On July 10, 2015, the Petitioners filed a supplement seeking Commission approval under PSL §99(2), as well. Under these applicable and, in the case of Section 222 recently-amended, provisions of the PSL, the Commission must determine whether the benefits of the proposed transaction outweigh the detriments, such that consummation of the merger would produce an overall net benefit for all current TWC and Charter New York customers. In the course of this proceeding, Staff of the Department of Public Service (Staff) and other commenters identified several measures that, in their view, could be undertaken by the Petitioners to bring the proposed merger into alignment with the public interest.

For the reasons elaborated below, the Commission agrees that in order for the proposed merger to be in the public interest, the Petitioners must agree to make concrete and enforceable commitments to modernize their cable system and services, expand access, address the digital divide and improve customer service. To this end, we find that with the acceptance by the Petitioners of the enforceable conditions, as discussed in the body of this Order and Appendix A, the proposed merger is in the public interest. These conditions are designed to help ensure a near ubiquitous world-class communications network that meets the needs of all New Yorkers. Absent acceptance of these conditions, the public interest standard cannot be met, and the petition for transaction approval is denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Simultaneously with, but separate from the proposed transaction, as part of its reorganization into New Charter, Charter will internally reassign 16 of its 27 franchises held by its New York operating subsidiaries into a single entity, Charter Communications Entertainment I, LLC (CCE-I).

Every day, close to 20 million New Yorkers rely on some form of communication as part of their personal, professional or public lives. Whether communicating by voice, e-mail or text message, or receiving content over the Internet, access to terrestrial, wireless or satellite communications are, without question, an essential component of our society. The needs of New York residents and institutions, such as our businesses, universities, and hospitals, are supplemented by the millions of visitors to our State who also rely on our communication networks to remain in contact with family, friends and businesses. Additionally, numerous New York businesses in the areas of advertising, media and data production rely on an open communications network to reach consumers nationally and internationally.

Consequently, there is a substantial public interest in ensuring that the policies and practices that the Commission establishes for overseeing communication service providers are designed to enable and support markets that meet national and international standards for speed, quality, access, and innovation.<sup>3</sup> The conditions set forth in this Order are consistent with, and help to achieve, Governor Andrew Cuomo's commitment to broadband investment and infrastructure expansion in the State.<sup>4</sup>

Access - Too many regions of the State continue to suffer from out-dated or non-existent cable service. By

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>See</u>, Case 14-C-0370, <u>In the Matter of a Study on the State of</u> <u>Telecommunications in New York State</u> (a comprehensive review of the State's communications landscape).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Governor Andrew Cuomo has established a \$500 million infrastructure fund to promote deployment of broadband infrastructure capable of providing speeds of 100 Mbps. <u>See</u>, <u>2015 Opportunity Agenda: Restoring Economic Opportunity</u>, Re: Statewide Broadband Access for Every New Yorker (issued January 16, 2015).

requiring the Petitioners (and by extension New Charter) to build-out their network to pass an additional 145,000 "unserved" (download speeds of 0-24.9 Megabits per second (Mbps)) and "underserved" (download speeds of 25-99.9 Mbps) residential housing units and/or businesses within four years of the closing of the transaction - with annual milestones and exclusive of any available State grant monies from the Broadband 4 All Program we will be well on our way to ensuring that all New Yorkers, regardless of location, have access to essential broadband offerings. The Petitioners also must convert their existing New York footprint to an all-digital network (including upgrading the Columbia County Charter cable systems to enable broadband communications) capable of delivering faster broadband speeds. The Petitioners will be required to offer all customers broadband speeds of up to 100 Mbps by the end of 2018 and 300 Mbps by the end of  $2019.^5$  With the conversion to an all-digital network, New Charter will introduce its 60 Mbps broadband service, enabling many Time Warner subscribers to obtain faster speeds at lower prices.<sup>6</sup> For customers currently subscribed to Time Warner's Standard service (15 Mbps) the price benefit would be modest, while Upstate customers subscribed to faster Time Warner offerings (e.g., 30 and 50 Mbps) will experience additional savings.

**Digital Divide -** In order to promote broadband affordability and universal service, we will require the Petitioners to offer a discounted broadband service to certain low-income customers. The program must be offered to homes eligible for the National School Lunch Program (NSLP) and senior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> With respect to the Columbia County systems, we recognize that the timing of accomplishing this upgrade is dependent on New Charter's ability to get local approvals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This service provides speeds of 60 Mbps down and 4 Mbps up.

citizens receiving benefits from the Supplemental Security In addition to a low-income Income Assistance (SSI) program. program, the Petitioners will be required to offer to new subscribers Time Warner's standalone \$14.99 Everyday Low Price service for two years following the close of the merger, at existing speeds and current price. The Petitioners will also be required to allow customers to retain that service for three years from the close of the transaction, which will run concurrently with the two-year period discussed above. They will also be required to allow existing customers to retain, without material changes that have the intent to discourage, all other existing Time Warner standalone and bundled broadband services for three years following the close of the merger. Finally, Petitioners will be required to provide free broadband service to 50 community anchor institutions not already receiving such service from Time Warner or Charter, in lowincome or underserved areas within the Petitioners' service footprint, inclusive of free line extensions, if necessary.

**Customer Service** - To ensure no reduction in customer service standards, the Petitioners will be precluded from reducing customer-facing jobs in New York for four years following the issuance of this Order. In addition, the Petitioners must focus on improving service quality and satisfying the needs of their New York customers and are required to invest \$50 million in service quality improvements in New York over two years following the close of the merger and achieve a 35% reduction in Time Warner's 2014 cable PSC Complaint Rate by the end of 2020, with half achieved by the end of 2018. If the improvement targets are not achieved, the Petitioners will be required to invest additional monies in customer service.

-5-

The Commission estimates that if the Petitioners accept the conditions, New York consumers will realize approximately \$435 million in net incremental benefits over the ten years from the close of the transaction and approximately \$655 million in associated investments.

At the time of the issuance of this Order, the Petitioners have not made any specific commitments regarding network expansion, broadband speed, or affordability in other state jurisdictions.<sup>7</sup> If, subsequent to this Order, such commitments are made that exceed the requirements the Commission imposes here, we will require the Petitioners to also provide those same benefits in New York.

These conditions will be enforced through a combination of incentive payments, self-effectuating commitments (including reporting requirements and collaboration with various stakeholders), and penalty actions pursuant to PSL §25, and, if necessary, enforcement proceedings pursuant to PSL §26. These conditions are essential to ensure achievement of net benefits for the Petitioners' New Yorker customers.

## BACKGROUND

On May 23, 2015, Charter, along with CCH I, LLC, the current Charter subsidiary that will become New Charter, entered into agreements (the Agreements) with Time Warner, Liberty Broadband Corporation (Liberty Broadband), Liberty Interactive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Hawaii Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs' (DCCA) Cable Television Division, recently approved the proposed transaction and among other things requires New Charter to offer within three years of the close of the transaction a low-income broadband service with speeds of 30 Mbps for \$14.99/mo. This program is part of a national commitment made by Charter, which, as discussed in detail below, this Commission also requires in New York within 15 months of the close of the transaction.

Corporation (collectively Liberty), and Advance/Newhouse, a parent company of BHN. Under the terms of the Agreements, Time Warner will ultimately merge into a subsidiary of New Charter through a series of mergers. Those mergers will result in Time Warner stockholders, other than Liberty, receiving a combination of cash and shares of New Charter Class A common stock that values TWC at approximately \$78.7 billion in exchange for their shares of Time Warner stock, and Liberty receiving shares of New Charter Class A common stock in exchange for its shares of Time Warner stock. In addition, subject to separate conditions set forth in Charter's agreement with Advance/Newhouse, New Charter will acquire BHN for approximately \$10.4 billion, comprised of cash and equity of New Charter and an indirect subsidiary of New Charter. Liberty will invest a total of \$5 billion in connection with the proposed transaction in exchange for additional shares of New Charter Class A common stock.

Following the close of the proposed transaction, New Charter will be the third-largest cable provider behind AT&T/DirecTV and Comcast Corporation (Comcast). New Charter will own and/or manage systems serving approximately 19.4 million broadband customers, 17.3 million video customers, and 9.4 million voice customers across 41 states. In New York, Charter currently provides cable television and other communication services to a relatively small number of customers through its Cable Franchisee Subsidiaries, which operate two cable system clusters in and around Plattsburgh and Columbia County, New York. The Cable Franchisee Subsidiaries provide service to approximately 14,000 residential and business customers in the Plattsburgh service area, and approximately 2,500 residential and business customers in the Columbia County service area. The Plattsburgh area networks are fully interactive, two-way systems, capable of providing video, voice

-7-

and broadband services, while the Columbia County networks are one-way, video service-only systems.

According to the record in this case, Time Warner currently provides cable television, broadband, and telephone services to approximately 2.6 million subscribers in approximately 1,150 cities, towns, and villages throughout New York State. Time Warner is also a major presence in four out of the five New York City boroughs (Manhattan, Staten Island, Queens, and Brooklyn) and the major Upstate cities, including Buffalo, Rochester, Syracuse, and Albany. The Joint Petition does not seek authority for changes to New York customers' rates, terms or conditions of service, or for direct assignment of Time Warner's franchises, certificates, assets or customers; after the close of the proposed transaction, the Petitioners assert that if New Charter wishes to make changes that require regulatory approval, it will follow applicable New York filing and notice requirements.

The proposed transaction will include the pledge of assets and the issuance of substantial debt. According to the Joint Petition, certain operating subsidiaries of New Charter, including the Time Warner Subsidiaries and the Charter Fiberlink Subsidiary, will become guarantors of, and, with respect to any secured facilities, will pledge their assets to secure, (1) indebtedness being incurred to finance the transaction in part, and (2) legacy indebtedness of Time Warner and its subsidiaries that will become indirect subsidiaries of New Charter. The Joint Petition states that Charter expects to finance part of the consideration for the proposed transaction with additional indebtedness of approximately \$24 billion. This additional indebtedness, according to the Petitioners, is expected to be in the form of new senior secured bank loans, senior secured notes, and unsecured indebtedness made available to two of Charter's

-8-

subsidiaries, CCO Holdings, LLC, and Charter Communications Operating, LLC (Charter Operating), the immediate holding company for all of Charter's operating subsidiaries. In connection with the completion of the proposed transaction the Joint Petition further states that Charter Operating and its subsidiaries, including the Time Warner Subsidiaries and the Charter Fiberlink Subsidiary, expect to guarantee approximately \$23 billion in indebtedness of Time Warner and its subsidiaries that will become New Charter subsidiaries.

#### NOTICE INVITING COMMENTS

Following the filing of the Joint Petition, the Commission issued a Notice Inviting Comments (Notice) on July 22, 2015.<sup>8</sup> The times for submissions in response to the Notice expired on September 14, 2015 (for comments) and September 30, 2015 (for reply comments). In addition, pursuant to the State Administrative Procedure Act (SAPA) §202(1), a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking was published in the <u>State Register</u> on July 29, 2015.<sup>9</sup>

The Commission also held five Informational Forums and Public Statement Hearings in three cities concerning the Joint Petition and the proposed transaction: in Albany on September 17, 2015, New York City on September 21, 2015, and Buffalo on

<sup>9</sup> SAPA No. 15-M-0388SP1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Under §617 of the Federal Communications Act (47 U.S.C. §537), when the sale or transfer of a cable television franchise requires the approval of a franchising authority, the franchising authority must act within 120 days or the request will be deemed granted, unless the requesting party and the franchising authority agree to an extension of time. On July 17, 2015, the Petitioners sent a letter to the Secretary to the Commission agreeing to extend the time for action by the Commission through December 22, 2015; a subsequent letter was filed on December 17, 2015, agreeing to further extend the time for Commission action through February 11, 2016.

September 24, 2015, to allow for on-the-record public comments from interested consumers, non-profit organizations, local governments, business groups, and members of the general public. The Commission also received over 75 electronically-filed comments from the public at large. Generally, comments supporting the proposed transaction assert that, among other things, the merger will create jobs and provide better products at more affordable rates. Those opposing the transaction state that the merger will inevitably lead to higher rates and potential data caps on broadband services in the future. A summary of all the comments received from the above-referenced sources is provided in Appendix B. All comments have been taken into consideration in rendering a decision on the Joint Petition.

## STATUTORY TEST FOR APPROVAL

There is no dispute over the statutes applicable to the Commission's review of the proposed transaction. Time Warner currently operates under duly authorized and approved Certificates of Public Convenience and Necessity (CPCNs) as a provider of telecommunications services in New York. PSL §99(2) requires the consent of the Commission to any proposed transfer

-10-

of its "works or system."<sup>10</sup> As we noted in another merger case, "[a]lthough PSL §99(2) does not specify a standard of review, all such utility transfers have been interpreted as requiring an affirmative public interest determination by the Commission."<sup>11</sup>

PSL §§100(1) and (3) require the Commission's consent to the acquisition of the stock of a telephone corporation.<sup>12</sup> Unlike §99(2), however, these provisions expressly bar the Commission from giving its consent unless the applicant has shown that the acquisition is in the public interest. PSL §101 requires the Commission's consent when telephone corporations issue debt.<sup>13</sup>

PSL §222(3) governs the transfer of the franchise, or of facilities constituting a significant part of the system, of

- <sup>11</sup> Case 05-C-0237, Joint Petition of Verizon Communications et <u>al.</u>, Order Asserting Jurisdiction and Approving Merger Subject to Conditions (issued November 22, 2005), n. 46.
- <sup>12</sup> Again, consent is presumed after 90 days unless the Commission determines, as we have here, that the public interest requires our review and written opinion. See n. 10, supra.
- <sup>13</sup> PSL §101 states that an application is deemed approved after 45 days unless the Commission or its designee notifies the petitioner in writing, within the time period, that the public interest requires the Commission's review and its written opinion. Again, such written notification was provided. <u>See</u>, n. 10, supra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Although consent is presumed if the Commission takes no action within 90 days after being notified of the transaction, express written consent by the Commission must be provided where, as here, the Commission determines that the public interest so requires. On July 23, 2015, the Acting Director of the Office of Telecommunications and the Director of the Office of Accounting, Audit & Finance issued a letter to the Petitioners indicating that the public interest warranted further review under PSL §§99, 100 and 101, hence stopping the 90-day/45-day respective clocks for Commission review. <u>See</u>, July 23, 2015 Letter from Peter McGowan, Acting Director, Office of Telecommunications, and Doris Stout, Director, Office of Accounting, Audits & Finance to Charter and Time Warner.

any cable television provider. This statute was amended in 2014 to require an affirmative showing by the Petitioners that the proposed transaction is in the public interest.<sup>14</sup>

There is little dispute that these sections of the Public Service Law, individually and collectively, require us to conclude that the proposed transaction is in (or otherwise is consistent with) the public interest to obtain approval. In the matter before us, however, there is considerable disagreement among the parties over how the "public interest" standard set forth explicitly in PSL §§99, 100, 101 and 222(3) should be implemented.

The Petitioners assert that the several initiatives and commitments described in the Joint Petition are more than sufficient to provide "substantial <u>net</u> public interest benefits" (emphasis added) for New York.<sup>15</sup> However, while Petitioners' own words here refer to "net public interest benefits", the Joint Petition fails to adequately explain how the consummation of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Prior to amendment, the statute required the Commission to approve an application unless it found that approval "would be in violation of law, any regulation or standard promulgated by the Commission or the public interest." Effective April 1, 2014, however, PSL §222(3) was amended. (L. 2014, Chap.57. Part R). The original language of the section was designated subsection (a) and was restricted to the renewal or amendment of franchises. A new subsection (b) was added to govern the transfer of franchises and facilities from one franchise holder to a succeeding franchise holder. PSL §222(3) now provides that the Commission "shall not approve" such an application "unless the applicant demonstrates that approval would not" violate any law, regulation, or Commission standard, "and that the transfer is otherwise in the public interest."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Case 15-M-0388, Joint Petition of Charter Communications and Time Warner Cable for Approval of a Transfer of Control of Subsidiaries and Franchises, Pro Forma Reorganization, and Certain Financing Arrangements, Joint Petition (filed July 2, 2015), p. 35.

proposed transaction will ultimately provide concrete net benefits.

Initially, we note that the proposal may have detriments for some or all of the Petitioners' New York customers. If these detriments are significant, they cannot be disregarded or omitted from our public interest analysis. The Joint Petition implies that there are no such detriments.

Any assessment of the benefits should also be reduced to the extent the actions producing those benefits could or would have occurred even in the absence of the proposed transaction. In New York State, the merged entity will consist primarily of TWC assets, and the public record is clear that TWC has a number of on-going initiatives to improve the services provided to its New York customers. The Joint Petition, however, does not identify these improvements, estimate the schedule for implementation in the absence of a Charter/TWC merger, or compare them to the initiatives that the Petitioners assert will accompany the proposed transaction.

Staff asserts that our analysis of the public interest with respect to PSL §222(3), must be patterned on our implementation of PSL §70 analysis. We do not believe that our PSL §222(3) analysis is necessarily so limited. Section 70 provides for our review of certain transactions between electric corporations, gas corporations, or combined electric and gas corporations. There are many ways in which those transactions would or could be different from those encompassed by PSL §§99,

-13-

100, 101 and 222.<sup>16</sup> With these differences in mind, we believe Staff's argument does not go far enough in explaining how the Commission should evaluate the public interest.

Any similarities that may exist between our analysis under PSL §§99, 100, 101, and 222 here and an analysis under PSL §70 flow from the facts of each case and not from the statutes themselves. Our analysis will be tailored to the specific transaction under review to determine whether there are benefits related to the transaction and whether the benefits outweigh the harms depends on the specifics of the industry and facts of the case.

While we have broad discretion to choose the scope of review that best fits the transaction at hand, we are cognizant of Petitioners' arguments that, on the one hand, there are cable franchise transfers which have experienced a very limited review, and, on the other, there are Section 70 reviews which relied on only a "lightened" review of the proposed transactions. The cable television franchise transfers to which the Petitioners refer were decided in the wake of the amendment of PSL §222. It is asserted that these reviews did not materially differ from determinations on cable franchise transfer petitions prior to that date in relying on an abbreviated examination of the public interest. However, in the first decision, involving the transfer of two cable franchises

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For example, and in contrast to many Section 70 transactions, the PSL §§99, 100, 101, or 222 transactions may involve retail customers and are unlikely to involve wholesale customers only; may not involve regulated rates set according to costof-service analysis; may not involve entities that do not participate in an orderly, clearing price market such as the New York Independent System Operator (NYISO); may represent the New York portion of a significant national transaction; and could be regulated on the federal level by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC), rather than the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).

from Haefele TV, Inc. to TWC, the Commission found that the proposed transaction met the public interest because TWC had committed to improving substantially the overall performance of the acquired system, would offer access to broader programming, and had a proven track record as "an experienced provider of advanced cable, Internet access and telecommunications services."<sup>17</sup> The same findings, modified to more accurately reflect the circumstances of the individual franchise, were made in the second franchise transfer cited by Petitioners.<sup>18</sup>

We cannot agree with Petitioners that these two cable television franchise transfer cases are examples of the Commission using a test other than a net positive benefit test to assess the public interest associated with the proposed transfers. Indeed, as the Commission explicitly stated in these cases:

> While every cable transfer is reviewed on a caseby-case basis to determine if it meets the public interest, here the benefits are adequate because the transaction poses very little risk to customers as Time Warner has a proven track record and plans to provide more service offerings in the Towns of Greene and Smithville. Additionally, unlike a merger or the acquisition of an entire cable company, the instant transaction involves the sale of only two small cable systems and the associated franchises. Haefele will continue to operate in other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Case 14-V-0023, <u>Application of Time Warner Cable Northeast LLC</u> <u>in Connection with the Acquisition of Certain Cable Television</u> <u>Facilities and Franchises in the Towns of Greene and</u> <u>Smithville from Haefele TV, Inc.</u>, Order Approving Transfers, (issued April 29, 2014), pp. 5-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Case 15-V-0090, Joint Petition of Adams CATV, Inc. and Oquaga Lake Cable, Inc. for Approval of Transfer of Control of Cable Television System Franchise, Certificates and Facilities in Broome County, Order Approving Transfer (issued May 21, 2015), pp. 4-5.

jurisdictions on a stand-alone basis following the proposed transaction.<sup>19</sup>

Thus, not only did the Commission's decisions in those cases emphasize, as we do here, that the scope of the public interest analysis necessarily depends on the specifics of the particular transaction at hand, those decisions clearly applied a net positive benefit test by finding that the benefits of cable franchise transfers outweighed the detriments because the transferees would bring better cable, Internet and telephone services to customers than were offered by the transferors.<sup>20</sup>

Assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, that §70 supplied the definitive description of the net positive benefits test to be used to gauge the public interest under PSL §§99, 100, 101 and 222, we note that Petitioners assert that the public interest analysis used here should be different and of a narrower scope than the analysis described by Staff. Specifically, the Petitioners argue that a significant number of transactions approved under §70 involving competitive electric generators and merchant transmission companies have been decided under a "lightened" public interest standard rather than the net benefits test

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Case 14-V-0023, <u>supra</u>, Order Approving Transfers, n. 2. <u>See</u> also, Case 15-V-0090, supra, Order Approving Transfer, n. 1.

Petitioners also suggest that the scope of the Commission's inquiry and, hence, the standard it is legally capable of applying, is limited by federal law. They contend that under the FCC's rules implementing §617 of the Cable Act, the scope of transfer review authority is confined to issues related to a transferee's financial, legal and technical ability to operate the cable systems proposed to be transferred (Reply Comments of Petitioners, filed September 30, 2015 (Petitioners' Reply Comments), p. 55). That suggestion however ignores the instructions accompanying Form 394 which state that the applicant must, "[i]n addition to the information requested on this form ... submit all information required by the cable franchise agreement or applicable local law or that the franchising authority deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the transfer determination."

applied to retail utilities under that section.<sup>21</sup> According to the Petitioners, if any analysis is required under the PSL §70 standard for transactions between "lightly" regulated entities, the evaluation is generally limited to issues regarding market power and impacts on captive ratepayers, and the Commission's decision is made without regard to the net public benefits standard that would be applied to fully regulated gas and electric utilities.<sup>22</sup>

However, the Commission's standard of review for mergers and sales of lightly regulated competitive electric generators and merchant transmission companies is inapposite, and the Petitioner's reliance on these cases to establish the standard here is unpersuasive. Petitioners argue that the presence of competitive providers in the telephone, cable, and broadband markets must be considered, and that such a presence mitigates any need to consider whether the net positive benefit test should be applied, or whether conditional approval - as previously applied by the Commission to monopoly providers - in New York is necessary.

The Petitioners' comparison is flawed because those lightly regulated entities are almost always individual market participants, do not directly serve retail customers, and operate in effectively competitive electric commodity markets that are administered by an independent entity responsible for assuring efficient operation. There is virtually nothing comparable to the circumstances presented here. The review

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See e.g., Case 91-E-0350, Wallkill Generating Company L.P. -Petition For a Declaratory Ruling that the Public Service Law is Inapplicable, or That Further Regulation There under is Unnecessary, or in the Alternative, That Light-Handed Regulation be Applied, Declaratory Ruling on Regulatory Policies Affecting Wallkill Generating Company and Notice Soliciting Comments (issued Aug. 21, 1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, pp. 53-54.

afforded under PSL §70 to transfers in cases involving participants in those markets are specific to them and their characteristics. Moreover, the degree of PSL §70 regulation that will be applied to each such entity is determined at the time it enters the relevant market, subject, however, to subsequent modification if new facts concerning that market arise. No such determination has been made for cable companies. Moreover, lightly regulated providers awarded reduced scrutiny review under PSL §70 operate at their own risk in markets that involve multiple competitors operating on the same playing field, again distinguishing them from cable companies.

As distinct from lightly regulated providers, where fully regulated providers furnish retail electric service, the Commission does, in fact, conduct a broad net positive benefit analysis under PSL §70, which has historically resulted in a substantial portion of synergy savings accruing to ratepayers. We recognize that, in comparison to electric and gas utilities, which are monopoly providers, Charter and Time Warner operate in relatively competitive telephone and video markets. These markets, however, are not perfect and, in their operation, may not provide New York consumers with the full measure of benefits that would otherwise be expected in a truly competitive environment.<sup>23</sup> The Commission's regulatory response to a proposed merger should act as the next best substitute for competition when market forces may not ensure that consumers receive the full benefits that should be derived from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Staff's proposed conditions, discussed <u>infra</u>, recognize that New Charter, which is created as a result of this merger, will be able to exert some market power in the retail markets, but will also be subject to competitive forces. We note here, and discuss below, Staff's recommendation that only 50% of synergy savings, rather than all or a majority of those savings, be shared with New York consumers.

transactions of this type.<sup>24</sup> While some of the services offered by the Petitioners may involve levels of competition similar to those of lightly regulated providers receiving reduced scrutiny under PSL §70, others, especially broadband, simply do not. Time Warner serves close to 50% of New York State and we have a legitimate interest in ensuring that, when a company of this size provides customers with a service so affected by the public interest, as is communications, that real benefits accrue to consumers as a result of a given transaction.

As established above, we are not compelled by statute to apply any of the analyses from any particular §70 proceeding to this case. Nevertheless, where we find those holdings helpful and appropriate, we can seek guidance from them. Thus, we find useful the following from a recent §70 proceeding involving a fully regulated retail electric provider,<sup>25</sup> where we stated that the public interest analysis:

> [S]tarts by requiring Petitioners to make a three-part showing that the transaction would provide customers positive net benefits, after considering (1) the expected benefits properly attributable to the transaction, offset by (2) any risks or detriments that would remain after applying (3) reasonable mitigation measures.

Once we have gauged the net benefits by comparing the transaction's intrinsic benefits versus its detriments and risks, we can assess whether the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The Petitioners have not presented any concrete proof that the synergy savings attributable to this transaction will indeed be shared with customers as we would expect in a truly competitive market. Furthermore, Petitioners state in their Reply Comments that New York consumers may not share in any synergy savings at all as these savings may already be experienced under the incumbent, Time Warner. <u>See</u>, Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Case 12-M-0192, Fortis Inc. Acquisition of CH Energy Group, Order Authorizing Acquisition Subject to Conditions (issued June 26, 2013) (Fortis Merger Order).

achievement of net positive benefits requires that the intrinsic benefits be supplemented with monetized benefits (sometimes described as "positive benefit adjustments" or PBAs). Then, if necessary, we establish a quantified PBA requirement, "as an exercise of informed judgment because there is no mathematical formula on which to base such a decision."<sup>26</sup>

When applying this guidance we are also cognizant of the broad authority provided through the public interest test to determine what constitutes the public interest, and as defined below, the applicable definition is reasonably related to the Commission's general regulatory authority, the nature of the transaction, and its potential impact on New Yorkers.<sup>27</sup>

Thus, we disagree with the Petitioners that the amendment to Section 222 failed to alter the application of the public interest review by merely shifting the burden of proof from the Commission to the Petitioners.<sup>28</sup> The new PSL §222(3)(b) supports a more thorough review of the proposed transaction. Under Petitioners' interpretation of PSL §222(3)(b), the Commission would have to assume that the Legislature amended the statute with the expectation that the nature of the Commission's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Id., p. 59, <u>quoting</u> Case 07-M-0906, <u>Iberdrola, S.A. et al. –</u> <u>Acquisition Petition</u>, Order Authorizing Acquisition Subject to Conditions (issued January 6, 2009) (Iberdrola Order), p. 136.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> In New York Telephone Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of the State of <u>New York</u>, 72 N.Y.2d 419, 429-30 (1988), the Court of Appeals construed the provision of PSL §110(3) that a management contract be in the "public interest" and concluded the application of the term "public interest" was a matter of Commission discretion and expertise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 49.

review of cable mergers or acquisitions would be no different than the public interest standard in PSL §§99, 100, and 101.29

Legislative intent and meaning is best determined from statutory language. <u>Samiento v. World Yacht Inc.</u>, 10 N.Y.3d 70, 77-78 (2008); <u>Riley v. County of Broome</u>, 95 N.Y.2d 455, 463 (2000). In addition, a court must attempt to harmonize all legislative provisions and give meaning to all parts of a statute. <u>People v. Finley</u>, 10 N.Y.3d 647, 655 (2008). "The primary consideration of courts in interpreting a statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the Legislature." <u>Riley v. County of Broome</u>, 95 N.Y.2d 455, 463 (2000) [internal quotation marks and citation omitted].

Applying these principles, it is virtually certain that the amendment to PSL §222(3) was intended to bring it more in line with our public interest review enumerated in the other sections of the PSL discussed above. Additionally, it is our belief that the Legislature intended that the scope of the public interest analysis in cable mergers and acquisitions necessarily depends on the specifics of the particular transaction at hand and whether that transaction will serve the public interest.<sup>30</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Even when the public interest standard is prescribed by other sections of PSL (<u>i.e.</u>, §§70, 83 and 89-h), the nature of the Commission review will be guided by the individual facts surrounding a particular transaction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> This application is done as a pure matter of statutory principles without resort to the "realistic appraisal" ordinarily done in PSL construction. <u>Matter of New York State</u> <u>Electric & Gas Corporation v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of the State</u> of New York, 308 A.D.2d 108, 111, 114 (3<sup>rd</sup> Dept 2003).

## SCOPE OF THE PUBLIC INTEREST ANALYSIS

The Commission's public interest review is as broad as its statutory obligations and related policies concerning cable and telecommunication services. In this regard, the PSL provides general and broad oversight authority to the Commission over telecommunications and cable providers through PSL §91: adequate telephone service at just and reasonable rates; through PSL §94: general powers of the Commission over telecommunications providers to examine conditions of service and facilities; and PSL §211: general powers of the Commission to set State communications policy and ensure cable companies provide adequate, economical, and efficient service to subscribers. Under these and other statutory provisions of the PSL, discussed <u>supra</u>, the Commission must determine whether or not the transaction, as a whole, provides net public benefits to all New York consumers in the Time Warner footprint.

The determination and evaluation of public benefit must be undertaken in the context of existing public policy objectives and the realities of the telecommunications and cable television marketplaces. At the outset, we note the Commission's historical policy with regard to both telephone and cable television has been to promote the public welfare through reliance on market-based competition.<sup>31</sup>

In conducting our review of this proposed merger, we note that TWC companies in New York presently serve more than two million customers in 1,150 communities. While Charter currently has only a very limited presence in New York, the combined company, like TWC alone before the merger, will be the single largest supplier of communications-related services in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See e.g., Case 05-C-0616, <u>Transition to Intermodal</u> <u>Competition</u>, Statement of Policy on Further Steps Toward Competition in the Intermodal Telecommunications Market and Order Allowing Rate Filings (issued April 11, 2006).

the State. On a national scale, the combined company will have more than 19 million subscribers. The size of the resulting company will have both positive and negative implications to New York's interests in fostering a robust communications infrastructure and competitive market for communication services.

As Staff notes, based on the size and scope of the post-merger New Charter, the proposed transaction is expected to generate significant synergies, a portion of which should inure to the benefit of New York consumers.<sup>32</sup> One of the Commission's obligations is to ensure that the potential benefits of the proposed transaction translate into tangible benefits to New Charter's New York consumers. Further, these benefits should be consistent with the Commission's public policies favoring the actions of competitive markets over regulation, where warranted.

Our review of the proposed transaction also takes into account the changed, and changing, nature of the communications marketplace and of the laws that govern it. In March 2015, the FCC reconsidered its prior decisions that classified broadband Internet access service as an information service, and concluded that broadband Internet access service is a telecommunications service subject to regulation as a common carrier under Title II of the Telecommunications Act.<sup>33</sup> The FCC has observed that consumers today primarily use broadband Internet access service as a conduit.<sup>34</sup> As Petitioners, Staff, and other commenters to this proceeding observe, the rapid evolution of technology

-23-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Redacted Comments of the Department of Public Service Staff (Staff Comments), pp. 19-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> GN Docket No. 14-28, <u>In the Matter of Protecting and Promoting</u> <u>the Open Internet</u>, Report and Order on Remand, Declaratory Ruling, and Order, ¶306 <u>et seq.</u> (issued March 12, 2015) (Open Internet Order).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> <u>Id.</u>, ¶350.

spurred by the development of the Internet is profoundly changing the fundamental concept of communication services throughout the world. Thus, in reviewing the proposed transaction and its impact on the markets and consumer interests in New York, the Commission must consider the impact it will have on the ability of consumers to gain access to, and rely on, broadband networks to exercise effective communication choices.

Much as telephone was an essential service for consumers in the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> Century, so too today is broadband. Broadband service, whether provided by wire, such as cable, digital subscriber line (DSL), and fiber optic technologies, or wirelessly through WiFi and LTE cellular technologies, represents not only a communications platform (in the form of voice, text, e-mail, video conferencing, and other social media services), but a platform for social relationships, health information, news, entertainment, education, medical diagnosis, the payment of bills, navigation, shopping, government business, document storage, and job applications. Growing from a nascent industry fewer than 20 years ago, broadband has become a core communications service relied upon by hundreds of millions of people across the country and the world. New York has experienced this evolution firsthand, as

-24-

its media production industry,<sup>35</sup> educational institutions,<sup>36</sup> hospitals and healthcare industries,<sup>37</sup> and financial institutions<sup>38</sup> rely heavily on broadband connectivity to deliver services and aid to millions of New Yorkers.

- <sup>35</sup> New York City's media industry employs more than 300,000 people or approximately 10 percent of the City's private sector, and accounts for \$30 billion in annual revenue. <u>See</u>, <u>Media & Emerging Tech</u>, NYCEDC, <u>http://www.nycedc.com/industry/media-emerging-tech</u>.
- <sup>36</sup> New York's wide ranging education institutions are at the forefront of utilizing the Internet as a means to educate students. <u>See</u>, <u>The Advanced Communications Law & Policy</u> <u>Institute at New York Law School</u>, The Impact of Broadband on Education (December 2010), available at <u>https://www.uschamber.com/sites/default/files/legacy/about/USC</u> <u>hamber\_Paper\_on\_Broadband\_and\_Education.pdf</u>; <u>see also</u>, <u>EducationSuperHighway</u>, State of the States Report on School Broadband Connectivity (November 19, 2015), available at http://stateofthestates.educationsuperhighway.org/.
- <sup>37</sup> The New York State Legislature's Legislative Commission on Rural Resources and the Senate and Assembly Health and Insurance Committees released a report in 2012 detailing the emergence of telemedicine in New York, its reliance on broadband, and recommendations for its continued importance, including increased broadband deployment. See, Legislative Commission on Rural Resources, Telemedicine and Telehealth: Putting the Pieces Together (March 2012), available at http://www.nysenate.gov/sites/default/files/articles/attachmen ts/Telemedicine%20and%20Telehealth%20Report.pdf. In recognition of this emergence, the New York State Legislature passed and Governor Cuomo signed Bill A2552A (L. 2015 Chapter 6), which requires cover services via telemedicine if provided by hospitals, home care and hospice agencies, licensed physicians, PAs, dentists, nursing, midwives, podiatrists, optometrists, ophthalmic dispensers, psychologists, social workers, or speech language pathology and audiologists. The bill became effective on January 1, 2016,
- <sup>38</sup> Financial services companies, many of which are based, in and operate extensively, in New York State are interacting with their customers online, with 68% of consumers reporting the use of online banking. <u>See</u>, <u>Consumers and Mobile Financial</u> <u>Services</u>, Federal Reserve (March 2012), <u>http://www.federalreserve.gov/econresdata/mobile-devices/2012consumers-financial-institutions.htm</u>.

Within this context of rapid and dramatic change, it is understandable that state commissions, including this Commission, are required by federal law to encourage the deployment of advanced telecommunications infrastructure, capable of delivering broadband services to all New Yorkers.<sup>39</sup> In applying the public interest standard in this case, our evaluation of the provision of telephone and cable services compels us to also consider broadband because all of these services compete against one another and are increasingly interchangeable. Given Time Warner's broadband presence in New York State, and the importance of broadband service for New Yorkers, this transaction presents an important opportunity for the Commission to assess the extent to which regulated services like cable and telephone interact with broadband, and how the Commission, as required by federal law, must encourage the deployment and adoption of higher speed broadband services.<sup>40</sup>

The Commission must also consider that, in today's market, many New Yorkers lack adequate access to communication choices and that the public interest is not well served if we approve this merger without addressing that deficit. In addition, it is crucial to consider whether the proposed transaction would harm or benefit New Yorkers who, because of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> 47 U.S.C. §1302(a) states in relevant part that "each State commission with regulatory jurisdiction over telecommunications services shall encourage the deployment on a reasonable and timely basis of advanced telecommunications capability to all Americans (including, in particular, elementary and secondary schools and classrooms) by utilizing, in a manner consistent with the public interest, convenience, and necessity, price cap regulation, regulatory forbearance, measures that promote competition in the local telecommunications market, or other regulating methods that remove barriers to infrastructure investment."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Time Warner's broadband service is currently the most widely available in New York and its cable service is available to approximately 61% of the State's 8.2 million households.

their level of income, have difficulties affording broadband Internet access.<sup>41</sup> The Commission also recognizes that many residential and business customers in rural areas of the State lack access to such services at speeds or levels that provide real value from the competitive communications market. Therefore, just as in the case of affordability, the public interest inquiry necessarily requires an assessment on how the transaction will harm or benefit the State's interest in rural and business customer broadband expansion.

Based upon the foregoing considerations, the Petitioners must show, among other things, that the transaction will facilitate a greater commitment to communication network modernization throughout their New York footprints than would otherwise occur with a standalone Time Warner organization. The Petitioners must also show how the transaction will facilitate increased access to their network for rural New Yorkers and business customers who today do not have the full value of a competitive market. As Staff and many commenters point out, the promise of telecommunications and cable competition is elusive if customers do not have access to the cable network or are not able to access advanced networks because standalone broadband services are not affordable. Accordingly, as part of their burden, we expect the Petitioners to demonstrate that the proposed transaction promotes New York's interest in a robust competitive broadband market through expanding and enhancing network access and assuring affordable standalone services.

Along with these considerations, as a whole, New York consumers are far too often dissatisfied with the service

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> See, Pew Research Center, Home Broadband 2015 (December 21, 2015), available at <a href="http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/12/21/2015/Home-Broadband-2015">http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/12/21/2015/Home-Broadband-2015</a> (examining the relationship between income and broadband adoption).

quality of traditional cable companies.<sup>42</sup> As part of our public benefit analysis we will consider the impact of the proposed transaction on customer service.

Finally, as in all cases of this type, the Commission is concerned about the economic development effects of the merger, including how the proposed transaction will impact existing and new employment opportunities. Because Time Warner is a New York based company, there is particular interest in ensuring that synergies are not achieved through reductions in the customer-facing labor workforce in New York.

Staff offers that there may be conditions or requirements not described in the Joint Petition that could be imposed and that could mitigate one or more of these detriments, or otherwise increase the extent to which the transaction may be characterized as in the public interest. Recognizing, as we must, that monetized benefits, sometimes described as positive benefit adjustments or PBAs, are at best "an exercise of informed judgment because there is no mathematical formula on which to base such a decision, " $^{43}$  we address below additional specific proposals that we find necessary to assure that the Petitioners' proposed transaction meets the positive net benefits test and is in the public interest. In considering additional enforceable conditions that could be applied to our approval of the proposed transaction, we also consider Staff's assessment of the synergies likely to flow from the merger to New Charter's shareholders, and the share of these synergies that should be expected to provide benefits to Time Warner and Charter's New York consumers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Staff Comments, pp. 39-40. <u>See also</u>, People Utilities Law Project (PULP) comments filed September 16, 2015 (PULP Comments), pp. 10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Iberdrola Order, p. 136.

At the outset, Staff asserts that the value of the synergies that may be realized from the proposed transaction is approximately \$402 million.<sup>44</sup> In its methodology, Staff notes first that published reports "project that the merger of Time Warner and Charter will produce \$800 million of synergy savings."<sup>45</sup> Staff then calculates that, post acquisition, TWC's and Charter's New York customers would represent approximately 10.879% of New Charter's total customer base (approximately 2,600,000 out of 23,900,000). Staff concludes, that a conservative presumption of a 50% customer/50% shareholder sharing of these synergies, applied to New Charter's expected New York customer percentage, establishes that the combined company's customers should receive approximately \$43.5 million (10.879% x \$400 million) in benefits annually from the proposed transaction.<sup>46</sup> The Joint Petitioners, however, take issue with Staff's calculation of the New York share of the projected synergy savings.<sup>47</sup> They argue that Staff overstates the amount

<sup>47</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, pp. 56-58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Staff Comments, p. 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Charter to Merge with Time Warner Cable and Acquire Bright House Networks Combinations Benefit Shareholders, Consumers and Cable Industry, May 26, 2015, available at http://ir.timewarnercable.com/investor-relations/events-andpresentations/upcoming-events/event-details/2015/Charter-Communications-to-Merge-with-Time-Warner-Cable-and-Acquire-Bright-House-Networks-Conference-Call/default.aspx.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Staff calculates that over the first ten post-transaction years, New York customer synergy savings should total approximately \$402 million, using a pro forma run rate where 50% of the synergies are achieved in the first year, 75% of the synergies are achieved in the second year, and 100% thereafter (\$43.5 million X 50% + \$43.5 million X 75% + \$43.5 million X 8 = \$402.375 million). See, Staff Comments, pp. 20-21. The net present value of the Staff calculated consumer share is approximately \$280 million using a discount rate of 12%.

of synergy savings that should be attributable to customers in several respects.

First, the Petitioners assert that Staff fails to compute the net present value of the \$402 million in estimated synergy savings that should accrue to New York Time Warner and Charter customers over the first ten years following the proposed transaction. This failure, according to the Petitioners, overstates the quantitative amount of benefits to be delivered under the net benefits test. The Petitioners state that a net present value analysis would bring the overall number down to \$241 million instead of \$402 million.<sup>48</sup> Both the net present value and the total nominal value can be instructive. To the extent that net savings or benefits accrue over differing periods of time, the Commission should compare the synergy savings or benefit packages using a net present value approach, however, the nominal value is also informative as it represents the total value received over time.

Second, the Petitioners argue that, in capital intensive and technologically dynamic businesses such as cable, broadband and telephony, it is more reasonable to assume that a substantial portion of synergy savings will be re-invested in network infrastructure and new technologies rather than simply returned to customers or shareholders.<sup>49</sup> We agree that these are "capital intensive and technologically dynamic businesses."<sup>50</sup> This business environment is present whether the proposed merger goes forward or not. However, in order to guarantee that the proposed transaction is in the public interest for New York, concrete commitments are necessary here because, as

- <sup>48</sup> Id., p. 56.
- <sup>49</sup> Id.
- <sup>50</sup> Id.

indicated above, New Charter will be able to exert some market power in the retail markets.

Third, Petitioners state that Staff incorrectly assumes that synergy savings will be uniformly reaped in each geographic area served by the merging entities in proportion to that area's share of the combined company's total subscriber base. According to Petitioners, each synergy may not have the same effect across the merged entity's footprint.<sup>51</sup> These assertions, however, cut against Petitioners' previous argument that, in a competitive environment, customers will necessarily be receiving their share of synergy savings. Moreover, if New York customers are net contributors rather than net recipients of the synergy saving, then it confirms Staff's position that additional conditions are necessary to ensure an actual net benefit for New York customers.

In the absence of any persuasive argument to the contrary, we conclude that Staff's estimate of the synergy savings that should be available for the benefit of New York customers (\$402 million in nominal value) is a useful estimate to measure the net benefits associated with the proposed transaction. At a minimum, this amount in synergy savings should be available to customers through the following conditions discussed below.

## THE JOINT PETITION

According to the Petitioners, the proposed transaction will enhance competition and provide current Time Warner and Charter customers with faster Internet speeds and deliver other public interest benefits. The purported benefits put forward are as follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> <u>Id.</u>, p. 57.

#### Network Investment

The Petitioners assert that, after the transaction is completed, they will make several investments in the combined systems. More specifically, the Petitioners describe four types of investments that New Charter will be making. First, the Petitioners will commit to the completion of one million line extensions nationally in the first four years after the merger is complete. Second, they will make a \$2.5 billion investment within four years of the merger closing to build-out unserved or underserved commercial areas in the existing Charter-TWC-BHN service territories. Third, the Petitioners assert that they will create 300,000 additional Internet over wireless (WiFi) "hotspots" within four years of the merger closing.<sup>52</sup> Fourth, they assert that New Charter will convert its facilities to an all-digital system for 99% of its customers within 30 months of the implementation of the proposed merger, although Petitioners state that it is possible that systems serving less than 1% of homes in the existing footprint, including Columbia County systems, may not be transitioned to all-digital service due to the challenges of interconnecting certain remaining Charter networks.

Petitioners, however, decline to specify where in the national footprint of Charter, TWC and BHN these investments will be made or to identify the decisional factors to be used to channel these capital resources to specific areas or customers. There is no analysis to indicate that a reasonable proportion of these investments will be to systems in New York or for the benefit of New York customers. Similarly, there is no proposal by the Petitioners to describe the specific commitments that are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> A hotspot is a physical location situated with telecommunications equipment that allows users in the vicinity of the hotspot area, to access the WiFi connection to the user's Smart Phone, tablet or other mobile device.

being made or the specific enforcement mechanisms that would be used in the event the Petitioners' implementation fell short of their commitments. Further, in order for these investments to be characterized as part of a net public benefit, Staff concludes, and we agree, that Petitioners would have to establish that these investments would not have been made in the absence of the proposed merger.<sup>53</sup> In the absence of a demonstration that there is "a tangible commitment to make new investments or invest beyond Time Warner's current capital investment budgets,"<sup>54</sup> it is difficult to characterize these capital expenditures as a certain benefit to New York customers or a satisfaction of the public interest under the New York statutes.

Beyond this general observation, applicable to each of the investments listed above, it is possible to identify specific characteristics of each of these investments that also frustrate or obviate the conclusion that they would contribute to a net positive benefit for New Yorkers. For example, with respect to the line extension investments, we note that the Petitioners take issue with a proposal by one commenter who suggests that the Petitioners should commit to build-out the system to reach density levels as low as 10-12 residents per mile. In response, the Petitioners argue that "[t]he Commission should not circumvent municipal authority to negotiate build-out commitments in franchises, or its own rulemaking process, by adopting a build-out requirement that exceeds existing requirements in the State."<sup>55</sup> There is no indication, however, that this cautionary argument can be squared with the Petitioners' national commitment to make one million line

<sup>54</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Staff Comments, p. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 29.

extensions. If the build-out opportunities in New York State are primarily building down to density levels already specified in franchise agreements, then it is the franchise terms, not the merger, that would require those line extensions. If there are no such opportunities, and the Petitioners resist building-out based on lower density levels, the opportunity to meet this one million line extension commitment must depend on line extensions that will be made in franchise territories other than those in New York. In this event, the line extension commitment cannot be characterized as a net benefit from the standpoint of the merger without specific commitments for New York.

Similarly, we note that the \$2.5 billion investment commitment to build-out in commercial areas is unaccompanied by any commitment for New York. Further, and in contrast to other investment "commitments," the \$2.5 billion build-out has no milestones at which progress toward the commercial build-out goal would be measured. With these characteristics, in addition to the general characteristics described above, it is difficult to recognize this \$2.5 billion "commitment" as a benefit for New York resulting from the merger.

The third element of the Petitioners' capital investment commitment is the establishment of 300,000 new WiFi hotspots over the first three years after the merger's closing. The deployment of additional WiFi hotspots is, according to Staff, a benefit to consumers who use certain applications on certain mobile phones.<sup>56</sup> This value cannot be quantified in the absence of a plan that describes whether, or the extent to which, these hotspots will be deployed in New York. In addition, Staff understands that TWC has, up to now, pursued an aggressive plan to expand the number of hotspots available to customers in New York. As noted above, before additional post-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Staff Comments, p. 30.

merger hotspots can be characterized as a benefit attributable to the merger, a demonstration would have to be made to explain why, in the absence of the proposed merger, TWC would not simply continue its hotspot development program and deploy approximately as many hotspots in New York as may be expected from the stated merger commitment.

The final element of the proposed capital investment program is the commitment to fully digitize the system within 30 months of the closing of the merger transaction. According to Staff, approximately 40% of TWC customers in New York are already served by a digital system, and TWC would be expected, in the absence of the merger transaction, to continue these conversions.<sup>57</sup> The only difference between the digitization proposed in the Joint Petition, and that which we would expect to see from TWC in the absence of a merger, is that Petitioners' proposal is to complete the digitization within 30 months while TWC has not formally announced such a timetable. Consequently, in this proposal, as in the other elements of the capital investment program, the benefits cannot be clearly identified.

The Petitioners' proposal to fully digitize the system also includes another troubling aspect. The Joint Petition indicates that they contemplate digitizing 99%, rather than 100% of the systems.<sup>58</sup> While this may benefit 99% of the TWC customers, it will leave the outlying 1% with inferior service. When, as now, significant efforts are being made to identify and bridge the "digital divide," this digitization is apparently from the outset expected to produce digital haves and have-nots.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> <u>Id.</u>, p. 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Joint Petition, p. 28.

## Network Modernization and Increased Speeds

The Petitioners assert that, as their systems are digitized, they will be able to offer higher speed broadband service at a more attractive price than TWC in the absence of the merger. This statement is based on the anticipated offer of 60 Mbps service for \$59.99 per month.<sup>59</sup> This price and speed will be New Charter's entry level offering when the network has been digitalized. A large number of TWC customers, those subscribed to TWC's 15 Mbps service Upstate and 50 Mbps service in New York City, will experience a modest price benefit (if savings related to modem fees are factored in) along with an increase in service speed. Customers currently subscribed to higher speed Time Warner services Upstate will experience a more significant price benefit.

However, if a customer seeks service at a higher speed, Charter currently only offers a 100 Mbps service. The TWC Maxx offerings, on the other hand, currently available in New York City, are offered at speeds up to 100, 200 or 300 Mbps. We note, however, that Charter's retail price for 100 Mbps broadband service is higher than TWC's Maxx offerings in New York City.

As significant for the public interest, if a customer wishes to purchase a lower priced service, there is no corresponding Charter service to meet that need. TWC has an Everyday Low Price service (2 Mbps at \$14.99 per month),<sup>60</sup> and a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> <u>Id.</u>, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> As one commenter points out, the Everyday Low Price is available "without precondition, restricted qualifiers, contracts, or limits on what types of services can be bundled with it." Stop the Cap! Comments (filed September 29, 2015), p. 5. Such an offer enables the low-income customer to pair this broadband service with TWC telephone service to create a very attractive telephone plus broadband package for about \$25 per month.

Basic service (6 Mbps at \$29.99 per month).<sup>61</sup> Charter's 60 Mbps offering is priced well above TWC's lower tier offering and consequently maybe be beyond the price range for customers who desire a lower cost service. Under these circumstances, the Joint Petition and the Petitioners' Reply Comments do not establish that Charter's "faster speed, lower price" offer is a material benefit of the merger transaction.

# Low-income Broadband Services

The Petitioners originally proposed to emulate a program now being implemented by Bright House that is designed to serve certain low-income customers. As discussed below, Staff and other parties describe several aspects of the program proposed by Petitioners that limit its reach and effectiveness.

The Petitioners state that they "will enhance the speed of and expand the eligibility for the broadband service" available through this new broadband offering and will offer the service at a "significantly reduced rate" throughout the Charter/TWC footprint within three years.<sup>62</sup> To this end, Charter announced in December that it would commit to offering a 30 Mbps down, 4 Mbps up low-income service for \$14.99 per month inclusive of installation fees and a cable modem without a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> The prices cited for these broadband services may be for a standard or a promotional offer, and, therefore, a precise dollar-for-dollar comparison based on the cited prices may not be possible. Similarly, these prices do not reflect, in TWC's case, the \$8 per month modem charge. The difference between the standard and promotional offer and the absence or presence of modem charges, however, do not appear to be large enough to change the relative ranking of prices for the identified services. TWC currently offers, and we would expect it to continue to offer, two lower priced and lower bandwidth broadband services, as well as two higher bandwidth broadband services, which have no comparable products in the New Charter menu of services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 18.

credit check.<sup>63</sup> Eligibility for the program will include families eligible for the NSLP and seniors eligible for SSI.

The implementation of a program of this sort throughout the TWC/Charter footprint in New York will be critical to our policy goals that seek to address the needs of low-income customers and close the digital divide. The Petitioners and many of the commenters clearly recognize the importance of this goal and the importance of a low-income broadband offering as a major tool to meet that goal. The program described in the Petition and as updated through Charter's filing with the FCC has the potential to contribute an important net benefit as more fully discussed below. Customer Service

The Petitioners assert that it will be New Charter's intention to bring hundreds of customer service jobs currently located outside the country back to the United States. They assert that customer service jobs located within the service territory are more likely to succeed in meeting customer needs and expectations.<sup>64</sup> There is no commitment, however, that Petitioners will locate any of the in-sourced workers in New York State. At the same time, it is also possible, as Staff asserts, that the inevitable disruptions that accompany the merger of two large companies, like Charter and TWC, will reduce the focus on New York, to the detriment of its New York consumers. Based on the foregoing, it appears that New

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> See, MB Docket No. 15-149, Applications of Charter <u>Communication, Inc., Time Warner Cable Inc. and</u> <u>Advance/Newhouse Partnership for Consent to the Transfer of</u> <u>Control of Licenses and Authorization</u>, Letter from John L. Flynn, Counsel for Charter Communications, Inc., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, FCC Re: Low Income Broadband (filed December 22, 2015)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, pp. 19-20.

Charter's customer care performance following the merger is unlikely to provide a net benefit to New York consumers. Enhanced Video Programming

Charter identifies two technology products that it is introducing in its current service territory. One, called Worldbox, is customer premises equipment designed to receive and store video content. The second, Spectrum guide, is intended to improve the customer's ability to find programming. While each of these might provide, in Staff's view, "a minor incremental benefit,"<sup>65</sup> to associate this limited benefit with the proposed merger, the Petitioners would have to establish that TWC does not, and is not expected to, have a comparable product for introduction to its customers in the future.

# Net Neutrality and Video Competition

The Petitioners emphasize in their filing that, notwithstanding actions at the federal level<sup>66</sup> already taken to favor net neutrality, they will agree to desist for three years from specific practices which would threaten net neutrality.<sup>67</sup> While these representations clearly place the Petitioners' conduct strongly in support of net neutrality, more than one commenter has pointed out that this issue has already been resolved at the federal level and that Petitioners' representations are "irrelevant, since the [net neutrality] rules are in effect. [And] any behavior to the contrary would be violation of the [FCC's 2015 Open Internet Order]."<sup>68</sup>

<sup>65</sup> Staff Comments, p. 27.

<sup>67</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, pp. 32-33.

<sup>68</sup> Common Cause Comments, filed September 17, 2015, p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> MB Docket No. 10-56, <u>In the Matter of Applications of Comcast</u> <u>Corporation, General Electric Company and NBC Universal, Inc.</u> <u>for Consent to Assign Licenses and Transfer Control of</u> <u>Licenses</u>, Memorandum Opinion and Order (issued January 20, 2011).

Accordingly, while appreciated, the Petitioners' representations in support of net neutrality cannot be a net positive benefit in our analysis of the proposed merger.

The Petitioners also state there will be no harm to competition with online video distributors (OVDs), video programmers, or multichannel video programming distributors (MVPDs). Upon the close of the proposed transaction, the Petitioners state that New Charter will have approximately 2.5 million fewer broadband subscribers than Comcast currently serves. Similarly, New Charter will serve about 17% of MPVD subscribers nationwide, making it the third largest video provider behind Comcast (22%) and AT&T/DirecTV (currently at 20%). Charter and BHN do not own any broadcast or cable television content outside of local news, sports, and public affairs programs, and Time Warner owns only local channels plus a few regional sports networks, reducing the risk of the use of market power to the detriment of consumers.<sup>69</sup> We acknowledge that the proposed transaction does not present significant vertical market power concerns, but this is in no way a net benefit, it simply alleviates one important concern when there is a major consolidation in the market being contemplated. Moreover, since the potential for direct competition no longer exists, this assertion is in no way a benefit of the proposed transaction, it simply maintains the status quo going forward albeit with one less major provider exiting the market. Public Benefit Assessment

Staff and several commenters suggest that the proposed merger, as described in the Joint Petition and Petitioners' Reply Comments, does not have sufficient net benefits to warrant a finding that the transaction is in the public interest. We concur. Many of the asserted benefits from the proposed

-40-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Joint Petition, pp. 30-31.

transaction are events triggered by actions taken independently from the merger, and others are likely to be undertaken by TWC in any event, should the merger not be approved. Further, many asserted benefits are only described on a national scale and there is no way to determine if the investments or expenditures will occur in New York. Similarly, many of the projected benefits are described in terms that are too indefinite to permit us to assume that the benefits will occur as described to make a meaningful contribution to the transaction's net benefits.

In summary based solely on the Joint Petition and the Reply Comments, we find that the Petitioners have not carried their burden to establish that the transaction will provide net positive benefits such that the proposed transaction can be characterized as in the public interest without additional enforceable and concrete conditions.

#### RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS AND REPLY COMMENTS

Noted in the discussion above, we find no discernible net benefits associated with the proposed transaction, and that the Petitioners failed to meet their burden to show a public benefit. In a typical proceeding before the Commission, the administrative schedule would allow for time to vet the mitigation and resolution of potential detriments as well as implement conditions designed to obtain net benefits. Here, given the federal deadline for Commission action under 47 U.S.C. §537, conditions are being imposed subject to acceptance by the Petitioners. There is no obligation on the Staff or any other commenters to suggest conditions to establish benefits or to minimize detriments. Nevertheless Staff and others do suggest several measures which, if adopted, would increase the positive benefits to TWC's and Charter's New York customers overall.

-41-

These proposals are discussed below; a full summary of comments is contained in Appendix B.

### Customer Service

Staff and PULP point out that in certain national surveys, TWC, and to a lesser extent Charter, have scored poorly in customer satisfaction reports.<sup>70</sup> This concern is compounded by the likelihood that, as the merger is being implemented, New Charter may lose the focus that TWC currently has on New York. To address this potential shortcoming, Staff and PULP recommend the development of a customer service improvement plan.

Specifically, Staff recommends that New Charter achieve a PSC Complaint Rate in New York lower than the PSC Complaint Rate thresholds set by the Commission for telephone and cable service, that New Charter work with Staff to develop a plan to maintain its PSC Complaint Rates at acceptable levels, and that a negative performance incentive mechanism be established if New Charter's cable or telephone PSC Complaint Rates become unacceptable.<sup>71</sup> Moreover, Staff states that, any such conditions "[do] not create any incremental net positive benefit for New York, and thus should not be afforded any incremental value by the Commission."<sup>72</sup> The Petitioners acknowledge their obligation to meet the Commission's customer service metrics, but state that nothing in the record supports the establishment of stronger measures.<sup>73</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Staff Comments, pp. 58; PULP Comments, pp. 10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Staff Comments, pp. 58-59. Staff also recommends that New Charter be required to complete a talking guide solution for the blind and visually impaired that Charter has been developing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 38.

### Job Losses

Staff and New York City recognize that an important post-merger objective of New Charter will be to find operational or synergy savings that may be available as a result of the merger.<sup>74</sup> In both Staff and New York City's view, the impact of this effort, however, should not be disproportionately absorbed by New York. Staff proposes a condition to assure that there would be no net loss of customer-facing jobs in New York for two In addition, for non-headquartered personnel, Staff's years. condition would require that job reductions in New York be no greater than the New York share of New Charter jobs nationwide.75 New York City suggests that employment at call centers in the metro area be maintained at current levels.<sup>76</sup> Staff also recognizes that, while the conditions mitigate job loss concerns, they "do not create any incremental net positive benefit and, therefore, produce no incremental value."77 The Petitioners believe any such conditions are unnecessary.<sup>78</sup> Network Investment

Staff and PULP observe that "absent a specific commitment regarding investment ... above [TWC's] current levels, or the continuation or expansion of current [TWC] programs, like the successful rural residential network deployment plan, the public benefits asserted by Petitioners are speculative at best."<sup>79</sup> Staff recommends that New Charter be required to "develop a strategic implementation plan to build out its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Staff Comments, p. 44; City of New York, Mayor's Office (New York City) Comments, filed September 16, 2015, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> <u>Id.</u>, p. 60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> New York City Comments, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Staff Comments, p. 60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Staff Comments, p. 49; PULP Comments, p. 9.

proposed all-digital network to the remaining unserved or underserved Charter and [TWC] franchise areas in New York."<sup>80</sup>

Staff further recommends that this plan address expanding service to rural communities and other unserved areas, to industrial parks and businesses, and to community anchor institutions.<sup>81</sup> Staff's focus is on unserved or underserved areas in existing Charter or TWC franchise areas. Independent of the proposal for the development of a strategic implementation plan, Staff would require New Charter to upgrade the Columbia County systems.<sup>82</sup> The Petitioners respond that a specific implementation plan would unnecessarily constrain New Charter's business judgment for future business investment.<sup>83</sup> Low-income and Broadband Availability

Neither Charter nor TWC currently has a program that encourages the provision of broadband Internet service to lowincome customers. The Petitioners put forward a low-income program in their petition. However this program has a number of significant design flaws, as pointed out by Staff and New York City, which inhibit participation in the program by certain low-

- <sup>81</sup> Id.
- <sup>82</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Staff Comments, p. 49-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comment, pp. 27-28.

income households.<sup>84</sup> Staff proposes conditions to address some,<sup>85</sup> but not all,<sup>86</sup> of these program shortcomings.

Staff's proposed conditions would also require New Charter to participate in the federal Lifeline Program, and to form a working group for outreach so as to reach a broad proportion of eligible customers.<sup>87</sup> Staff's conditions also reflect its concern that certain middle-income residential customers, who would not be expected to qualify for Petitioners' low-income program, may lose access to TWC's Everyday Low Price offering (currently at \$14.99 per month) and end up paying up to four times as much for Charter's standard service, which would be provided at a speed that the customers have not in the past needed or wanted.<sup>88</sup> To address this problem, Staff recommends a condition that would require New Charter to continue to provide TWC's Everyday Low Price service for at least five years with

- <sup>86</sup> Defects found by other commenters, but not addressed by Staff's conditions are that: the low-income program is only available to low-income families with at least one child that is eligible for the National School Lunch Program which effectively, and unnecessarily, shuts out senior citizens and childless households; customers who are taking broadband service at speeds higher than that available on the Everyday Low Price offer cannot participate; enrollment permitted only in August and September; and customers cannot enroll over the Internet.
- <sup>87</sup> Staff Comments, pp 51-54.
- <sup>88</sup> <u>Id.</u>; PULP believes a service offering should be made available to all customers at 25 Mbps at a cost of \$10 or less per month. See PULP Comments, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Staff Comments, pp. 51-54; New York City Comments, pp. 2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Staff's conditions would: permit enrollment in the low-income program even if the customer was taking service through some other broadband offering including Time Warner's \$14.99 Every Day Low Price option, permit enrollment by a customer with an account in arrears, require an increase in speed from 5 to 10 Mbps, and require New Charter to establish a five year New York program enrollment target.

speed increases to 3 Mbps down/1Mbps up.<sup>89</sup> The Petitioners do not offer any specific program changes, but state that current offers will be enhanced following the merger.<sup>90</sup> Network Modernization and Increased Speeds

While Petitioners promised upgrades will satisfy New York's current policy goal of 100 Mbps provided that an alldigital network is in place, in order to achieve a net benefit for New York, Staff and Stop the Cap! believe that New Charter must upgrade its network and services to provide even faster broadband speeds.<sup>91</sup> Specifically, Staff believes New Charter should provide broadband service up to 300 Mbps in the New York markets beyond New York City within 42 months of the close of the transaction.<sup>92</sup> Staff also notes that the expansion of this service to other areas of the State would have a significant and immediate impact on economic and social developments. Staff points out that communities across the State have been active in recent months in Case 14-C-0370, In the Matter of a Study on the State of Telecommunications in New York State, in calling for faster broadband speeds to be delivered to their respective communities. The Petitioners respond that conditions in this regard are unnecessary because they have already promised to increase broadband speeds to 100 Mbps and competitive market forces will compel them to continue investing in additional speed upgrades.<sup>93</sup> But, according to Staff, this should not prevent the Commission from encouraging even faster speeds over the longer-term in New Charter's New York footprint.

<sup>89</sup> Id.

- <sup>91</sup> Stop the Cap! Comments, pp. 11-12.
- <sup>92</sup> Staff Comments, pp. 55-56.
- <sup>93</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, pp. 29-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 33.

### Issuance of Debt

According to Staff and others, the issuance of debt is a concern.<sup>94</sup> While Time Warner's debt is currently rated investment grade at BBB by Standard and Poor's (S&P) and Baa2 Moody's Investors Service (Moody's), Staff specifically states the ratings on the debt for the proposed transaction straddle the level between an investment and a non-investment grade. Moody's has assigned a non investment rating of Bal while S&P's has assigned its lowest rung investment grade rating of BBB- for this same debt. Debt that carries a non-investment grade is much more expensive than debt that carries an investment grade rating. According to Staff, the credit ratings on Time Warner, and any subsequent debt issuances, will likely reflect the ratings assigned to the debt issued to partially fund the merger. The major reason for the downgrade is the higher amount of debt leverage that will be present at Time Warner's parent, New Charter. In Staff's opinion, increased debt hurts credit metrics like debt/earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA) that measures a company's ability to repay its debt obligations.<sup>95</sup> Staff submits that cable operators are typically large users of capital, and, as such, are dependent on a good credit quality to keep their borrowing rates reasonable. This transaction leaves the successor entity in a considerably worse credit position than is currently enjoyed by Time Warner. This is a risk, says Staff, not only to the company's bondholders, but its customers as well because if the operating environment declines for cable companies, then New Charter will have more difficulty maintaining the investments

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Stop the Cap! Comments, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Staff Comments, pp. 35-39.

necessary to bring expanded products and provide good service quality to its customers.<sup>96</sup>

The Petitioners state that New Charter's leverage is lower than, and within normal range for, other MVPDs. Further, post-transaction, New Charter expects to deleverage through EBITDA and cash flow growth, as the operating business is expected to be cash flow-positive at the day of close. Additionally, New Charter will have a \$3 billion revolving credit facility and anticipates that it will be undrawn at closing to support day-to-day management of the business. Thus, there is no concern, according to the Petitioners, about New Charter's leverage having a negative impact on TWC's revolving line of credit or the Company's ability to operate going forward.<sup>97</sup>

### Miscellaneous Issues

A number of commenters raised issues not directly addressed in Staff's comments. PULP states that the Commission should require that, following the transaction, New Charter not impose any modem rental fees.<sup>98</sup> The Petitioners state that they do not currently, and has no plans to, charge modem rental fees for its services.<sup>99</sup> Stop the Cap! argues that the Commission should require a commitment not to impose data caps on its broadband service because they are harmful to customers.<sup>100</sup> The Petitioners state in their FCC Public Interest Statement that they do not intend to impose data caps in the near-term. Finally, PULP states that the Commission should require New Charter to continue Time Warner's Lifeline and Eligible

<sup>96</sup> Id.

- <sup>98</sup> PULP Comments, pp. 9-10.
- <sup>99</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 34.
- <sup>100</sup> Stop the Cap! Comments, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p 36.

CASE 15-M-0388

Telecommunication Carrier (ETC) obligations for its telephone services.<sup>101</sup> The Petitioners state that they are not proposing to change any existing TWC obligations as a result of this transaction, and would expect New Charter to seek Commission authorization for any such changes.<sup>102</sup> A number of comments urge compliance with underlying franchise obligations, and the Commission expects that New Charter will continue to comply with existing franchise agreements.

#### MERGER CONDITIONS AND ENFORCEABILITY

The Commission agrees with Staff and other commenters that concrete conditions to ensure that synergy savings inure to the benefit of New York customers are a prerequisite to merger approval. Such conditions and commitments also provide credibility to Petitioners' claims regarding the benefits of the transaction and are consistent with established Commission precedent in applying the public interest standard to merger and acquisition cases.

The Commission appreciates the efforts of Staff and other commenters to identify measures that, in their view, could be undertaken in the areas of network investment, Internet speed enhancements, access, affordability and service quality that the Petitioners could adopt to bring the proposed merger into alignment with the public interest. We conclude, however, that the measures that Staff and others put forward lack sufficient specificity and enforceability. The discussion that follows adds the necessary enforceable and concrete incremental benefits to those conditions. Finally, while we share Staff's concern regarding the increase in debt linked to the proposed transaction, we do not believe conditions are warranted in this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> PULP Comments, pp. 6-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 46.

CASE 15-M-0388

regard given the assurances provided by the Petitioners that post-transaction New Charter should have sufficient cash flow to upgrade and operate its systems effectively and will be in line with other industry participants.<sup>103</sup>

The conditions discussed below will help ensure that access to advanced modern networks is available to all New Yorkers in the combined company's footprint. With the acceptance by the Petitioners (and by extension New Charter) of the conditions described in both this Order and in Appendix A, we find that the proposed transaction will meet the public interest and should be approved. Absent New Charter's unconditional acceptance of these conditions, we deny the Petitioners' request for the reasons articulated herein. Network Modernization and Increased Speeds

The presence of high speed broadband throughout New Charter's footprint is a substantial interest for the State. The Commission agrees with Staff, and others, that capital investments to extend service to unpassed premises described by Petitioners have merit. However, the absence of any specific commitment regarding targets, funding, or scheduling means the public benefits asserted by Petitioners are speculative at best. To ensure fulfillment of Petitioners' promises, we will establish clear investment and build-out requirements as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> With respect to ETC and Lifeline, we note that the Petitioners are not proposing any changes and will seek Commission approval in the future if changes are so desired. Thus, no conditions are necessary. Regarding modem fees, Charter does not currently charge modem fees and there is no indication of any intent to do so in the future.

### 1. Network Speed Enhancements

Following the transaction's close, New Charter will begin the necessary investment in system upgrades and enhancements (including the Charter Columbia County systems to enable two-way communications) to permit the transitioning to all-digital technology. This will enable greater network bandwidth availability to allow the deployment of more advanced services throughout the New Charter footprint. This work is to be completed within 30 months of the close of the transaction to ensure timely sharing of the synergies.<sup>104</sup> As a direct result of these upgrades, New Charter will be required to offer broadband Internet service with up to 100 Mbps broadband service to all customers on its New York State network by the end of 2018 and 300 Mbps service by the end of 2019.

To further ensure that these investments are made in a timely manner, the Commission will require New Charter to report, within 90 days of the transaction's close, the activities, expenditures and schedules related to the investment necessary to transition its network to all-digital and roll-out broadband speed enhancements described above. Thereafter, New Charter will be required to report its progress annually to the Commission on the anniversary of the close of the transaction. This annual reporting requirement may be more frequent if there is a demonstrable concern that the investments detailed above are not occurring in a timely manner. Finally, we take this opportunity to remind New Charter that it is obligated to timely report information regarding outages impacting telephone, broadband, and video services to Department Staff pursuant to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> With respect to the Columbia County systems, the Petitioners may obtain additional time for compliance due to circumstances beyond their control by submitting a request to the Director of the Office of Telecommunications.

applicable Commission regulations and outage reporting protocols.<sup>105</sup>

The Commission expects that New Charter will have to invest approximately \$300 million to meet its modernization and speed commitments. This estimate is based on costs associated with previous Time Warner high-speed broadband build-outs. We further believe that while this investment may have otherwise been made by TWC in the absence of the merger, Time Warner has not made a firm commitment or presented any schedule to achieve these upgrades. In our informed judgment, however, this enforceable commitment nevertheless represents an incremental benefit of \$5 million.

2. Network Expansion

The Commission also has a significant concern that there are areas of the State that have no network access even though they are located within current Time Warner/Charter franchise areas. Business and residential customers located in those areas often are not able to exercise the same level of communication choice as others absent an agreement to pay high connection fees through contributions-in-aid-of-construction (CIAC). Expanding the reach of the cable and telecommunication network services to unserved and underserved areas of the State is an important public interest. The Petitioners have made general, but not firm, commitments in this regard beyond stating that they will expand New Charter's network to one million additional customers nationwide.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> In New York cable companies are currently required to report outages affecting more than 1,000 customers pursuant to 16 NYCRR §890. Telephone companies, including Time Warner, are required to report telephone outages pursuant to 16 NYCRR §603. Since 2006, the Department's reporting guidelines have been expanded and major carriers have also committed to report outages affecting broadband and wireless services.

In order to ensure the expansion of service to customers in less densely populated and/or line extension areas within the combined company's footprint,<sup>106</sup> the Commission will require New Charter to extend its network to pass, within its statewide service territory, an additional 145,000 "unserved" (download speeds of 0-24.9 Mbps) and "underserved" (download speeds of 25-99.9 Mbps) residential housing units and/or businesses within four years of the close of the transaction.<sup>107</sup>

New Charter must not seek Broadband 4 All funding to accomplish these expansions. It is, however, required to seek such funding to achieve extensions to all unserved and underserved premises in their franchise areas beyond the aforementioned 145,000 newly passed premises, provided the requirements for the program are comparable to the Connect New York Program.

New Charter will be required to complete 25% of this network expansion within one year from the close of the transaction, and shall be able to credit towards this requirement any extensions not funded with State grant monies completed after the issuance of this Order and before the close of the transaction. Thereafter, New Charter is required to complete 25% of this expansion in each successive year for a total of four years. Any excess in a given year shall be allowed to be rolled into the next year.

If at any time during this four-year period, New Charter is able to demonstrate that there are fewer than 145,000 premises unserved and underserved as defined above, New Charter may petition the Commission for relief of any of the remaining

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Under 16 NYCRR §895.5, a line extension area is defined, in part, as areas beyond the franchisees primary service area and may require a CIAC before service is provided.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> These 145,000 premises shall not include the upgrades to Charter's Columbia County systems.

obligation under this condition. Additionally, for good cause shown, New Charter may petition the Commission for an extension of the four-year time period outline above.

Further, New Charter will be required to provide free broadband service (and line extensions where necessary) to 50 community anchor institutions located in low-income or underserved areas of the State. This commitment is in addition to any other commitments required under existing or new cable television franchises. New Charter will be required to work with Staff and other appropriate State agencies to identify appropriate locations for these extensions.

To implement and enforce all of these network investment commitments, New Charter will be required to file a general implementation plan within 90 days of the close of the transaction and then annually, on the anniversary of the close of the transaction thereafter. We expect this plan to be finalized in consultation with Staff, the New York Broadband Program Office (BPO), and other interested stakeholders, with the objective of identifying areas where investments will provide the greatest value.

With respect specifically to the 145,000 premises, the Petitioners will be required to provide a geographic demarcation of the territories within New Charter's franchised areas that it intends to be the focus of this condition. New Charter (and Time Warner) will consult with Staff and the BPO to identify municipalities that will not be the focus of this expansion condition in order to facilitate coordination of this network expansion with the implementation of the Broadband 4 All. This consultation must occur within 45 days of the issuance of this Order.<sup>108</sup> Within 45 days of the close of the transaction, New

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> New Charter can avail itself of any protections afforded under the Public Officers Law in filing this information.

Charter will be required to provide the Commission with a final demarcation proposal. The Commission expects that the balance of the unserved premises in New Charter's footprint will be eligible for the BPO's Broadband 4 All Program. New Charter shall file with the Secretary to the Commission an updated map and progress report on at least a quarterly basis. The general implementation plan may be modified by New Charter upon consultation with the Director of the Office of Telecommunications.

The Commission expects that New Charter will have to invest approximately \$305 million to meet these conditions, made up of (1) \$290 million to reach 145,000 premises not currently passed by any cable network and (2) \$15 million dedicated to advanced network upgrades to Charter's Columbia County cable systems. These amounts are based on an estimate of \$2,000 per premises passed and costs derived from past build-outs associated with the Connect New York grant program.<sup>109</sup> Because these investments will be depreciated over the long-term and will derive some level of subscriber revenues, the net benefit will be less than the investment. We believe the public will obtain a \$50 million total incremental benefit based on a tenyear projection of expected recovery of investment for New Charter.

# Low-income Broadband Services

Access to the Internet is essential to participation in a modern society. Yet, while one of the great potential benefits of the Internet is to facilitate the acquisition and dissemination of information to all individuals at low cost, physical ability to connect to the Internet using either the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> See, generally, State Funding, New York State Broadband Program Office, http://www.nysbroadband.ny.gov/state-funding.

current or modernized network does not provide any benefit to customers who cannot afford it. Staff and numerous commenters emphasize the importance of ensuring that the people of the State have access to affordable broadband service, which is essential for, among other things, education, job-seeking, access to government services, personal communications, and financial transactions. With respect to low-income families, Petitioners contend that by bringing a new low-income program to New York, the proposed transaction will have a specific, direct, and positive impact on many New York households. This program as initially proposed provides broadband service of 1 Mbps to qualified low-income families for \$9.95 per month, with no installation fees or modem equipment costs or rental charges.

We agree that the low-income broadband program, as originally proposed, is a positive one, but note that a number of criticisms have been leveled against it concerning restrictions on eligibility and the level of service provided. Communications services have historically been, and continue to be, beyond the reach of many lower-income residents of New York State. While 97.9% of the State's residents are reported to have access to broadband with download speeds greater than 6 Mbps (100% in Urban Areas, 94.7% in Rural Areas),<sup>110</sup> adoption of all broadband services (including mobile) was only 67% as of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> National Broadband Map, Broadband Statistics Report – Broadband Availability in Urban vs. Rural Areas, p. 8 <u>http://www.broadbandmap.gov/download/Broadband%20Availability</u> <u>%20in%20Rural%20vs%20Urban%20Areas.pdf</u>.

2011.<sup>111</sup> Of particular concern to the Commission is that, according to the Broadband Service Adoption Study, it is lowincome New Yorkers who are most likely to not have broadband service. Of those households with incomes under \$20,000, only 36% have adopted broadband service as compared with 59% of those with incomes between \$20,000 and \$35,000, with cost being the most frequently cited barrier to adoption.<sup>112</sup> While solving this challenge does not fall on New Charter alone, it would undermine the public interest if a company with its size and reach did not assist in addressing this critical low-income market gap.<sup>113</sup> Thus, the conditions described below are specifically designed to encourage increased availability and adoption in those areas of the State and among those customer groups in which broadband adoption has lagged.

On December 17, 2015, Charter announced that it would commit to offering a 30 Mbps down, 4 Mbps up low-income service

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> <u>Center for Technology in Government</u>, Broadband Internet Service Adoption and Use in New York State Households, p. 1 (May 2011) (Broadband Service Adoption Study), <u>http://broadbandmap.ny.gov/documents/adoption-study/NYS-Broadband-Adoption-Study-Color.pdf</u>. We recognize that since the publication of this study, mobile (cellular) broadband subscription rates have more than doubled, with 5.455 million in 2010 growing to 12.725 million in 2013, based on FCC Form 477 data and thus, this 67% figure is likely understated today.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> <u>Id.</u>, pp. 11, 18. The more recent Pew Research Center Home Broadband 2015 report, n. 41, <u>supra</u>, indicates that nationally, 67% of all households have adopted some form of broadband service, compared to only 41% of households with incomes less than \$20,000, based on national surveys conducted in 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> The Department is currently undertaking a comprehensive study, in Case 13-C-0370, of New York's communications landscape to develop a forward-looking regulatory approach by identifying, framing and prioritizing issues that need further development, including the universal availability of broadband networks in underserved areas.

for \$14.99 per month inclusive of installation fees and a cable modem.<sup>114</sup> Charter indicated that eligibility for the program would include families eligible for the NSLP program as well as seniors eligible for SSI. Additionally, Charter said no credit check would be required for customers to sign up for this service. However, there is a 60-day waiting period for customers to sign up if they've previously subscribed to Time Warner or Charter broadband services and any customers in arrears will not be eligible until those debts have been cleared. Charter indicated it will roll out the program within six months of the close of the transaction.

As a condition of the Commission's approval, we will require that New Charter provide this service in New York State. Within six months of the close of the transaction, New Charter will be required to roll out the program through pilot projects, training of staff, or engagement with stakeholders. The service must be available to all New Charter customers within 15 months of the close of the transaction. For each of the four years following the commencement of the low-income program, on the anniversary date of the close of the transaction, New Charter shall file with the Secretary to the Commission a report on the number of households enrolled in the low-income program. Finally, New Charter will be required to work with Staff and other relevant State agencies and community partners to implement these eligibility criteria.

Since neither TWC nor Charter provides any low-income program currently, we find incremental benefit associated with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> MB Docket No. 15-149, <u>Applications of Charter Communication</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, <u>Time Warner Cable Inc.</u> and <u>Advance/Newhouse Partnership</u> for Consent to the Transfer of Control of Licenses and <u>Authorization</u>, Letter from John L. Flynn, Counsel for Charter Communications, Inc., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, FCC Re: Low Income Broadband (filed December 22, 2015)

the program that Charter has committed to offer. Assuming a retail value of \$50 per month over three years for a comparable Time Warner service and a product subsidy of \$35 per month based on 120,000 average annual connections over five years (40,000 per year), New York customers would experience approximately \$250 million in net benefits from this condition over five years.<sup>115</sup>

### Broadband Availability

We share Staff's and others' concerns for households that would not qualify for New Charter's proposed low-income program, but today receive, and would like to continue to receive, TWC's Everyday Low Price and other standalone broadband services. With respect to Time Warner's \$14.99 Everyday Low Price offering, this service provides affordable broadband to thousands of customers who may not meet the eligibility requirements for the low-income broadband program described herein, but cannot afford the cost of other products. Additionally, the Commission encourages competition in the telephone market,<sup>116</sup> and the ability to combine the Everyday Low Price package with over-the-top or Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) telephone services allows low- and fixed-income customers to have access to both telephone and Internet services for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> This assumption is based on current Time Warner rates for its 15 Mbps service Upstate (50 Mbps in New York City), \$39.99 for the first year and \$57.99 for the next two years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> See e.g., Case 05-C-0616, Proceeding on Motion of the Commission to Examine Issues Related to the Transition to Intermodal Competition in the Provision of Telecommunications Services, Statement of Policy on Further Steps Toward Competition in the Intermodal Telecommunications Market and Order Allowing Rate Filings (issued April 11, 2006).

approximately the cost of a standalone telephone service.<sup>117</sup> Charter currently offers no comparable product, and there is no evidence that competitive pressures are likely to compel it to do so.

Therefore, approval of the proposed transaction will be conditioned upon the continuation of Time Warner's Everyday Low Price offering for new subscribers in Time Warner's service areas at speeds at least as fast as those offered as of the date of this Order (or the date of the close of the transaction if faster) for a minimum of two years following the close of the transaction. Additionally, to ensure a smooth transition for all Time Warner broadband customers, the Commission will require that New Charter allow existing Time Warner customers to retain, without material changes that have the intent to discourage, the standalone and bundled broadband services they subscribe to at the close of the transaction for three years from the date of the closing. With respect to the Everyday Low Price service, this three year retention period will run concurrently with the two year period in which we require New Charter to continue to offer the service.

Given the retention conditions noted above, and assuming that the price for New Charter's 60 Mbps standalone and bundled services remains at current levels, Time Warner's existing broadband customers may realize as much as \$125 million

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Verizon's current rate for a basic access line is \$8.61 and the rate for its Unlimited Local Plan in Manhattan is \$16.34. The combination of these two rates results in a rate of \$24.95 for the functional equivalent of a flat-rate residential basic service in Manhattan. Combining \$14.99 broadband service with a \$9.99 VoIP offering such as MagicJack or a \$12.99/mo Vonage plan, is roughly equal to the \$24.95 Verizon residential basic service.

in annual net benefits.<sup>118</sup> These net benefits are the result of the savings that customers currently subscribed to Time Warner's higher priced broadband offerings and associated bundles will receive by subscribing to New Charter's 60 Mbps offering and associated bundles. We arrive at this net benefit based on an analysis of the standalone and bundled broadband prices currently available to Time Warner customers primarily in Upstate markets versus the standalone and bundled prices for Charter's 60 Mbps broadband service. We also note that through our conditions requiring the retention of existing Time Warner services, existing customers on lower priced services, especially the Everyday Low Price tier, may save considerable money over the retention period.

On March 12, 2015, the FCC issued a Report and Order on Remand, Declaratory Ruling, and Order in GN Docket No. 14-28, <u>In the Matter of Protecting and Promoting the Open Internet</u> (Open Internet Order), which established net neutrality rules applicable to both wireline and wireless broadband service providers. In the <u>Open Internet Order</u>, the FCC laid out its new net neutrality rules and classified broadband service as a telecommunications service subject to Title II under the Communications Act.<sup>119</sup> In regulating broadband as a Title II service, the FCC stated that it would forbear on, among other provisions, rate regulation, and prohibited state commissions from doing the same.<sup>120</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> The estimated net benefit figure is only projected for one year because there is no guarantee that prices will remain fixed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> GN Docket No. 14-28, <u>Protecting the Opening Internet</u>, Report and Order on Remand, <u>Declaratory Ruling</u>, and Order, ¶14, 37 (issued March 12, 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Id., ¶433.

We recognize and appreciate the FCC's efforts at ensuring an open Internet. The standalone broadband conditions imposed in this Order are not intended as, nor do they constitute, rate regulation, but rather are designed to retain existing Time Warner offerings, mitigate potential harms associated with the possible loss of these services as a result of the proposed transaction and thereby enable the Commission to approve the transaction to ensure that public interest benefits associated with the transaction are realized under the Public Service Law.

### Customer Service

Poor customer service from both Charter and Time Warner, and the prospect that it may worsen if the companies are combined, is one of the most frequently expressed concerns among commenters critical of the proposed transaction. Staff and other commenters, therefore, propose that the Commission condition its approval by requiring that the current Time Warner customer service metrics reported to the Commission be maintained. We do not believe that maintaining the status quo goes far enough.

The Commission recognizes that there is no inherent reason why the combination of these two companies should result in a worse customer service experience for the former customers of Time Warner. On the other hand, maintenance of the status quo, in which Time Warner's customer satisfaction rates are at or near the bottom among its peers, can hardly be considered a benefit of the proposed transaction. Competitive pressures should play a role in spurring service improvement, as the Commission has recognized in the past, but those pressures push all competitors to improve their performance, and thus far

-62-

Petitioners' peers have continued to rank higher in customer satisfaction.<sup>121</sup>

Therefore, we will require Charter to invest \$50 million in service quality improvements, which may include customer-facing training and customer-facing diagnostic systems tools for the New York market within two years of the closing of the transaction. Second, New Charter must achieve a 35% reduction in Time Warner's video PSC Complaint Rate (as of 2014) within five years from the date of closing, with a 17.5% reduction by the end of 2018. If the metric is missed in either 2018 or 2020, New Charter will be subject to an additional \$2.5 million investment over two years for each miss. New Charter will further be required to report annually on those investments made and the intended and achieved outcomes.

We are not requiring a reduction in Time Warner's telephone PSC Complaint Rate, however. There is no record basis that compels action regarding Time Warner's telephone service quality. Time Warner is a competitive telephone provider, not an incumbent. Most importantly, we are requiring that New Charter continue to report to the Commission regarding telephone service quality as ordered in Case 13-C-0193.

The Commission expects that the \$50 million in service quality improvement investments should obviate the need for the \$5 million service quality incentive mechanism, which in turn should produce a \$5 million net benefit for TWC and Charter customers.

### Protection Against Job Losses

As a general proposition, one of the many objectives that companies like Time Warner and Charter will look to achieve in a merger of this type is operational efficiencies, including work force reductions. Therefore, as in the case of mergers of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> <u>See</u> e.g., Staff Comments, p. 39.

this size, there is a potential for loss of jobs in New York which we believe requires conditions.

We are conditioning our approval upon commitments that will require significant new investments and other substantial service-related initiatives in New York. These commitments likely will require New Charter to grow its workforce in order to satisfy the conditions we are adopting. However, the Company's New York footprint post-merger will make up a much smaller percentage of its overall business than is currently the case for Time Warner. As of September 2015, Time Warner had five call centers employing approximately 1,996 staff, 61 retail/walk-in centers employing approximately 2,674 staff, nine corporate offices employing approximately 1,257 staff, 26 service/maintenance locations employing approximately 1,687 staff, two media offices employing approximately 435 staff, and 11 other service-related functions employing about 1,003 staff, with total employment in the State of approximately 9,052. New York currently represents about 17.3% of Time Warner's overall customer base.<sup>122</sup> New York would represent 10.879% of the combined entity's customer base following the proposed transaction.<sup>123</sup> The Petitioners have made no concrete commitments regarding the number of jobs that will be created or retained in New York following the close of the transaction. Rather, they state that no customer-facing jobs will be lost.<sup>124</sup>

In order to ensure that service quality and investment obligations are met, and to avoid possible negative economic results, the Commission will require that New York not experience any net losses in customer-facing jobs in the first

<sup>123</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Staff Comments, p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Petitioners' Reply Comments, p. 54.

CASE 15-M-0388

four years following the issuance of this Order.<sup>125</sup> In order to establish a baseline, New Charter will be required to report to the Secretary to the Commission, within 90 days of the close of the transaction, the number of customer-facing employees employed by Time Warner and Charter, respectively, in New York State as of the date of the issuance of this Order. For each of the four years following the issuance of this Order, on the anniversary date of the closing of the transaction, the Company will file with the Secretary to the Commission a report demonstrating its compliance with this condition.

## Miscellaneous Conditions

1. Data Caps

As New Charter builds out its network and begins to offer the faster speeds required by this Order it may seek to impose data caps on its customers. We understand that the Company has committed to the FCC that it will not impose data caps for three years following the close of the transaction and we will require this same commitment.<sup>126</sup> Moreover, New Charter will be required to provide the Commission with timely advance notice if it plans to implement data caps at any point thereafter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> For purposes of this Order, "customer-facing jobs" is defined to mean those positions with direct interaction with customers; including, but not limited to call center and other walk-in center jobs, and service technicians.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> MB Docket No. 15-149, <u>In the Matter of Application of Charter Communications, Inc., Time Warner Cable Inc., and Advance/Newhouse Partnership For Consent to the Transfer of Control of Licenses and Authorizations, Public Interest Statement (filed June 25, 2015), pp. 18-19.</u>

### 2. Most Favored State Clause

For the reasons stated herein, it is our judgment that the conditions we are establishing are necessary to satisfy the public interest with regard to the issues of speed, access, and affordability of service. At the same time, however, the Commission is aware that the Petitioners continue to pursue approval in other state and federal jurisdictions, and that these jurisdictions may require commitments that would also be beneficial to New York.

In order to ensure that New York gains the benefits of these commitments, we will require New Charter to agree to a most favored state clause. If, in obtaining approval of the transaction in other jurisdictions, the Petitioners commit to more line extensions, faster broadband speeds, or standalone broadband pricing that is lower for the same or similar value than that offered in New York, or additional low-income eligibility, New Charter will within 30 days following such commitment, notify the Commission of its intent to provide those same speeds and/or services in New York at terms that are reasonably comparable to the other state or federal commitments.

If FCC conditions adversely impact those contained in this Order, the Petitioners shall notify the Commission of the impact that such conditions will have on its commitments in New York and will work with the Commission and Staff to ensure that New York also obtains its commensurate benefit. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the conditions here shall be provided in addition to any benefit that results from any federal action regarding this transaction.

-66-

### Enforcement

The conditions adopted in this Order and listed in Appendix A shall be binding and enforceable by the Commission upon unconditional acceptance by New Charter within seven (7) business days of the issuance of this Order. If the Petitioners' unconditional acceptance is not received within seven (7) business days of the issuance of this Order, the Petitioners will have failed to satisfy their burden under the Public Service Law as described herein, and this Order shall constitute a denial of the Joint Petition.

Section 25 of the PSL requires that New Charter "comply with ... every order ... adopted"<sup>127</sup> pursuant to the PSL, and that any failure to comply with this Order may result in the Company being required to "forfeit to the people of the State of New York a sum not exceeding one hundred thousand dollars constituting a civil penalty for each and every offense and, in the case of a continuing violation, each day shall be deemed a separate and distinct offense."<sup>128</sup> In the event that the Company fails to comply with the conditions contained herein, pursuant to PSL §26, "the [C]ommission may direct counsel to the [C]ommission to commence an action or special proceeding in the supreme court in the name of the commission for the purpose of having such violations or threatened violations stopped and prevented."<sup>129</sup>

Therefore, through this Order, New Charter will be required to fully and completely comply with the conditions detailed herein and in Appendix A, and any failure to comply with those conditions as described above may result in the commencement of a penalty and enforcement action under PSL §§25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> PSL §25(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> PSL §25(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> PSL §26.

and 26.<sup>130</sup> The customer service quality conditions, however, require performance subject to specified incentive mechanisms in lieu of statutory penalties.

### CONCLUSION

In conducting our review of this transaction, the Commission has carefully considered the record developed in this case. Our examination has focused on the impacts of the merger on universal access to services (both in terms of geographic availability and affordability), network investment and modernization, service quality and economic development. Based on that review and the record before us, we conclude that with the conditions we are adopting (set forth here and in Appendix A), the merger will bring approximately \$435 million in incremental net benefits (plus other unquantified benefits) to TWC and Charter customers and result in approximately \$655 million in network modernization investment commitments. With the acceptance by the Petitioners of these enforceable and concrete incremental benefits, we conclude, as a whole, that the proposed transaction would meet the positive benefit test for New Yorkers and should be approved.

### The Commission orders:

1. The Joint Petition of Time Warner Cable Inc. and Charter Communications, Inc. for approval of a holding company level transaction transferring control of Time Warner Cable Information Services (New York), LLC, Time Warner Cable Business LLC, Time Warner Cable Northeast LLC, and Time Warner Cable New

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> The Commission's most recent exercise of its enforcement authority over telecommunications companies has involved the enforcement of service quality standards. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Case 10-C-0202, <u>Verizon Service Quality Improvement Plan</u>, Order to Show Cause (issued November 28, 2012).

York City LLC to Charter Communications, Inc. is granted pursuant to Public Service Law §§99, 100, 101 and 222, subject to the conditions discussed in the body of this Order and Appendix A, and upon receipt by the Commission of certification by Charter Communications, Inc., that New Charter and its successors in interest unconditionally accept and agree to comply with the commitments set forth in the body of this Order and Appendix A. Such certification shall be submitted within seven (7) business days of the issuance of this Order. If the Petitioners do not unconditionally accept within seven (7) business days of the issuance of this Order, this Order shall constitute a denial of the Joint Petition.

2. In addition to complying with any requests made by the Commission pursuant to Sections 94 and 216 of the Public Service Law, New Charter shall timely provide to the Commission any information, data, or other resources that the Commission deems necessary or appropriate to administer New Charter's compliance with this Order.

3. In the Secretary's sole discretion, the deadlines set forth in this Order, including Ordering Clause 1, may be extended. Any request for an extension must be in writing, must include a justification for the extension, and must be filed at least one day prior to the affected deadline.

4. This proceeding is continued.

By the Commission,

(SIGNED)

KATHLEEN H. BURGESS Secretary

### APPENDIX A - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL

## I. INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT

### A. Network Modernization and Speed Increases

 New Charter's New York network shall be alldigital within 30 months following the close of the proposed transaction.

- 2. New Charter is required to make investments to:
  - (a) offer broadband Internet service with speeds up to 100 Mbps to all customers served by its New York networks (including its Columbia County systems) by the end of 2018; and
  - (b) offer broadband Internet service with speeds up to 300 Mbps to all customers served by its New York networks by the end of 2019.
- B. Network Expansion Investments

1. New Charter is required to extend its network to pass, within their statewide service territory, an additional 145,000 "unserved" (download speeds of 0-24.9 Mbps) and "underserved" (download speeds of 25-99.9 Mbps) residential housing units and/or businesses within four years of the close of the transaction, exclusive of any available State grant monies pursuant to the Broadband 4 All Program or other applicable State grant programs. If at any time during this four-year period, New Charter is able to demonstrate that there are fewer than 145,000 premises unserved and underserved as defined above, New Charter may petition the Commission for relief of any of the remaining obligation under this condition.

a. New Charter and Time Warner are required to consult with Staff and the BPO to identify municipalities that will not be the focus of this expansion condition in order to facilitate coordination of this network expansion with the

Appendix A

implementation of the Broadband 4 All Program. This consultation is required to occur within 45 days of the issuance of this Order.

b. New Charter is required to notify the Secretary to the Commission where it will complete this network expansion (on a census block and street level basis) within 45 days of the close of the transaction, and updated as necessary on a quarterly basis thereafter.

c. New Charter is required to complete 25% of this expansion in the first year from the date of the close of the transaction and 25% in each year thereafter, for a total of four years. In any given year with actual extensions/passes exceeding 25%, company may apply the excess to any subsequent year. Any extensions/passes performed, without State grant money and after the date of this order and before the date of the close of the transaction, can be counted toward the fouryear requirement.

d. New Charter shall not require the payment of a line extension fee to serve any of these 145,000 premises.

e. Subject to the final terms and conditions of the Broadband 4 All Program being comparable to the Connect New York Program, New Charter shall bid for Broadband 4 All Program funding to provide line extensions to any remaining unserved and underserved premises in its New York service territory, exclusive of the 145,000 premises that will be built out pursuant to this Order.

f. For good cause shown, New Charter may petition the Commission for an extension of the four-year time period.

2. New Charter is required to offer, and if accepted, provide free broadband service and line extensions, if necessary, to 50 community anchor institutions (e.g., schools, libraries, and community centers) located in low-income or

-2-

underserved areas of the State. New Charter is required to work with Staff, the BPO, and other interested stakeholders to identify these community anchor institutions.

a. This commitment is in addition to any other commitments required under, for example, existing or new cable television franchises.

## II. UNIVERSAL ACCESS

## A. Broadband Affordability

1. New Charter is required to maintain and advance its commitment to an affordable standalone Internet offering through the continuation of the Time Warner Everyday Low Price \$14.99 service throughout the Time Warner New York territory at speeds no less than those being offered at the time of the Order or close of the transaction (whichever is faster) for up to two years from the date of the closing and allow customers to retain the service for a total of three years, which shall run concurrently with the two-year period in which New Charter must continue to offer the service.

2. New Charter is required to offer its 60 Mbps New Charter standalone broadband product throughout the New Charter New York territory at uniform national pricing.

3. New Charter is required to allow existing Time Warner customers to retain, without material changes that have the intent to discourage, the standalone and bundled broadband services they subscribe to at the close of the transaction for three years from the date of the closing.

## B. Low-Income Broadband

New Charter is required to provide a low-income broadband offering to eligible customers throughout its New York footprint as defined in the Order. This condition includes several components:

-3-

1. New Charter is required to begin the rollout of the low-income broadband program within six months of the close of the transaction through pilot projects, training of staff, and/or engagement with stakeholders.

2. New Charter is required to offer the low-income program, providing a minimum speed of 30 Mbps for \$14.99/month, within 15 months of the close of the proposed transaction throughout its New York service territory.

3. Eligibility for the program shall include households eligible for the National School Lunch Program and senior citizens 65 years and older eligible for the federal Supplemental Security Income program.

4. No credit check shall be required for customers to sign up for this service.

# III. CUSTOMER SERVICE

A. Customer Service Investments

1. Within two years following the close of the proposed transaction, New Charter shall invest a minimum of \$50 million in service improvement programs, which may include customer-facing training and customer-facing diagnostic systems and tools of the type suggested in the body of this Order for the benefit of its New York operations.

B. Customer Service Monitoring

 New Charter is required to show a 35% reduction in Time Warner's 2014 cable PSC Complaint Rate by the end of 2020; with a 17.5% reduction by the end of 2018.

2. If New Charter fails to reach the 2018 or 2020 milestones, it will be required to invest an additional \$2.5 million for each failure, with the investment to be made over a two-year period (i.e., 2019-2020 and 2021-2022, respectively).

-4-

3. Within 30 days after the end of each calendar year, New Charter is required to file its cable PSC Complaint Rate data with the Secretary to the Commission.

# IV. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

## A. Job Protection

 For four years from the issuance of this Order, New Charter shall not cause a net loss in customer facing jobs in New York State.

2. New Charter is required to report to the Secretary to the Commission, within 90 days of the close of the transaction, the number of customer facing employees employed by Time Warner and Charter on the date of the issuance of this Order.

# V. OTHER COMMITMENTS

#### A. Most Favored State Clause

1. New Charter is required to agree to a most favored state clause. If, in obtaining approval of the transaction in other state or local jurisdictions, New Charter commits to more line extensions, faster broadband speeds, standalone broadband pricing that is lower for the same or similar value than what is offered in New York, or additional low-income eligibility, New Charter shall, within 30 days following such commitment, notify the Commission of its intent to provide those same speeds and services in New York at terms that are reasonably comparable to the other state or local commitments.

2. If FCC conditions related to the transaction materially adversely impact those contained in this Order or Appendix A, New Charter shall notify the Commission of the impact that such conditions will have on its commitments in New

-5-

York and will work with the Commission and Staff to ensure that New York obtains its commensurate benefits.

B. <u>Miscellaneous</u>

1. New Charter shall not implement any data caps on its broadband service for three years following the close of the transaction and shall provide timely advance notice to the Commission if it plans to do so at any point thereafter.

### VI. REPORTING

1. Within 90 days of the close of the proposed transaction, and annually on the anniversary of the close of the transaction thereafter, New Charter is required to provide an implementation plan and report to the Secretary to the Commission detailing the activities, expenditures, and schedules related to the conditions imposed herein, to the extent necessary, to verify that these activities, outcomes, and investments are occurring in a timely manner.

2. New Charter is required to continue to report to the Commission regarding telephone service quality as required by the Commission of Time Warner in Case 13-C-0193 subject to further review and Commission action.

-б-

#### APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF COMMENTS

# Business Associations

A series of business and economic development groups, including the Rochester Business Alliance, Buffalo Niagara Partnership, Ulster County Regional Chamber of Commerce, Mohawk Valley Economic Devel. Growth Enterprises Corp., Retail Council of New York State, Adirondack Regional Chamber of Commerce, CenterState Corporation for Economic Opportunity, Niagara USA Chamber, Amherst Chamber of Commerce, Cheektowaga Chamber of Commerce, Greater New York Chamber of Commerce, Manhattan Chamber of Commerce, Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce, Tompkins County Chamber of Commerce, Greenpoint Chamber of Staten Island Chamber of Commerce, Greenpoint Chamber of commerce, and the Capital Region Chamber urged the Commission to approve the proposed merger because of the investments and higher broadband speeds promised by New Charter.

#### Gail A. Brewer, Manhattan Borough President

The Manhattan Borough President welcomes the Petitioners' stated commitment to net neutrality and faster broadband speeds at a lower cost than is currently provided by TWC. She is also aware of the Bright House offering for lowincome and anticipates that a program such as this can and will be used to make broadband service more accessible to low-income communities. While a program to bring Internet service to lowincome households is commended, the Borough President also contends that these households also need a training to become confident users of this service. Finally, she recommends that this low-income broadband service should be available to all low-income-individuals and should be provided at a price no higher than \$9.95 per month. Beyond Internet service to the home, the Borough President advocates for wireline and WiFi connects for libraries, senior centers, NYCHA community centers, and similar not-for-profits to support their job training and community building efforts. In support of this initiative, the Borough President appears to recommend a significant expansion of the public WiFi hotspot program already begun by TWC.

The Borough President asserts in her comments that the most common complaints concerning telecom providers are related to repairs and customer service and that, if there is a merger, New Charter should be held to the highest standards for customer service and timely repairs, and that coercive up-selling of products and services should be prohibited, and that transparent information on service or repair call costs should be required.

## Rochester Institute of Technology

The Rochester Institute of Technology (RIT) describes TWC as a very active partner in several programs which are conducted at RIT for the benefit of its students or of middle and high school students. The college predicts that the merged entity will continue TWC's participation in these activities and will be a "great community partner" for future projects that meet community interests and needs beyond their core business in the cable broadband industry.

# Comptroller for the City of New York

The Comptroller contends that a net public benefit from the merger requires New Charter to support and protect net neutrality and to address and close the digital divide. In the Comptroller's view, the digital divide should be addressed by New Charter through the introduction of an enhanced version of Bright House's low-income broadband program. These enhancements

-2-

would: allow low-income customers to enroll at any time in the year, eliminate the two-year time limit on the low-cost option, provide service at a minimum of 10 Mbps, more thoroughly publicize the availability of this program for existing customers, allow customers to join the program online, and report to the PSC on the progress and development of the program.

# Leticia James, NYC Public Advocate

The New York City Public Advocate asks that the Commission require universal broadband as a necessary condition before the Charter and Time Warner Cable merger. Further, the Commission must preserve and expand affordable broadband programs. Lastly, it should obtain commitments from New Charter to invest in a robust infrastructure, create jobs, and improve pricing transparency and customer service.

# NYC Public Advocate, Manhattan Borough President, NYC Council <u>Members (Kallos and Wills), NYS Senator (Hoylman), NYS</u> Assemblyman (Mosley)

They regard the merger as an opportunity to "guarantee universal broadband, consumer protections, and robust infrastructure commitments." To expand access to affordable and quality broadband service, the commenters urge that the low-income broadband program offered by Bright House be made available to New Charter's customers in New York at an "affordable rate of \$9.95" per month. They urge the program to be accompanied by free training and an offer of low cost computer equipment to participants. They also recommend that the eligibility extend beyond the school free and reduced lunch program. Finally, the commenters also state that Time Warner Cable's current Everyday Low

-3-

Price Internet tier should be upgraded to increase the download bandwidth to 5 Mbps with a reduced price of \$9.95/month.

Further, they urge that New Charter should be required to provide free access, training and equipment for broadband uses at all public housing, all senior, youth and community centers, and to maintain and expand Wi-Fi service in NYC libraries and parks. They contend that New Charter should be required to improve on existing franchise commitments to NY1 and public access, implement infrastructure improvements to enable gig watt network speeds, hire more customer service staff in NYC, add service centers in NYC and create a call center in NYS, discontinue up-selling of products on service calls, comply with a service quality plan with objective metrics, increase transparency surrounding price and service changes, and reduce customer complaints. They also recommend that Time Warner's current status as an eligible telecommunications carrier is continued after the merger is implemented.

# City of New York

The City of New York, speaking through the Mayor's Office contends that the proposed merger cannot meet the public interest test without satisfying several conditions. Specifically, the Mayor urges that New Charter be required to create a low cost program to provide high-speed services with broader eligibility than is specified, for example, in Comcast's Internet Essentials program. This would broaden eligibility, would encompass elderly low-income, immigrant and other persons with disabilities, and would extend the opportunity to participate to households not participating in the free and reduced lunch program. In connection with this initiative, New Charter should also guarantee significant upload and download speeds, build public awareness of this program, provided for high-speed internet service at community institutions to develop

-4-

high-quality programming and training. Finally, the Mayor contends that New Charter should track and publically report on the number and location of enrolling households.

These comments also call for New Charter to commit to increased rate transparency by which rate changes and the differences between advertized and actual charges are fully disclosed and readily available to customers. Similarly, these comments support a requirement that New Charter make concrete, measurable improvements in TWC's customer service and provide quarterly reports on the progress it is making in this area.

The Mayor's comments also emphasize the importance of maintaining or increasing the call center jobs located in NYC after the merger in implemented. It is also asserted that New Charter should develop substantial training goals and expand its MBWE contracting.

These comments also call on New Charter to make substantial investments in currently unserved or underserved areas in NYC. It urges that these commitments should be "specific, measureable, [and] time-bound". Specifically, that New Charter "must commit to upgrading 100% of its network to the last amplifier in every node from coaxial cable to fiber optic cable by July 2020."

The Mayor's comments also focus on the need for New Charter to make commitments to enhance public access Wi-Fi for NYC. These commitments should greatly reduce or eliminate time limitations provided through the Public Access WiFi program, include WiFi access in lower tier service packages including, for example, the company's low cost offering, increase download and upload speeds, meet or exceed standards for security and privacy, and work cooperatively with other NYC providers of free WiFi.

-5-

The Mayor's comments also refer to recent Time Warner Cable's initiative to shift public, educational and governmental (PEG) channels away from channel locations that they have had for many years to higher channel numbers. These shifts have greatly reduced PEG provider's ability to acquire and retain viewers. As described in the comment, the company's practices have also restricted PEG provider access to high quality recording and transmission technologies.

Finally these comments emphasize the importance of New Charter's commitments to net neutrality, and ask the Commission to clarify the commitments, permanently.

## Common Cause

Common Cause opposes the proposed merger. It emphasizes that most of the "commitments" made by the merging companies were not specifically defined and, in other cases, not specific to New York State. The comments also emphasize that the commitments could be reasonably expected to occur, even if there were no merger. It views the proposed merger as a threat to media localism and diversity, and a threat to the competitive market for communications. It describes the proposed merger as "inimical" to the public interest.

The Common Cause comments recognize that New Charter will experience benefits of increase sale which should drive down customer costs. The comments, however, emphasize that there is no commitment by New Charter to share these cost savings with customers. This lack of commitment is particularly noteworthy to Common Cause because of recent trends showing communications costs rising at alarming rates.

Common Cause also asserts that New Charter' jobs commitments is not merger specific and, indeed, is not certain to distribute any of the benefits from this commitment to New

-6-

York. Similarly, according to Common Cause, the New Charter commitments to diversity are also not merger specific, as is the initiative to implement the broadband program for low-income households or the commitment to net neutrality. In each of these instances, it asserts that the initiative could, and likely would, have been implemented by the incumbent company even if no merger proposal were under consideration.

Finally, Common Cause observes that Charters practices in other jurisdictions with respect to PEG access channels has not been supportive of these programs and has often reduced the availability of this programming to elderly or low-income customers.

# Advanced Communications Law & Policy Institute

The Advanced Communications Law & Policy Institute (Institute) supports the proposed merger. It contends that approval of the merger "will facilitate further investment, innovation and competition in broadband, video, and communications across New York." The Institute's support for the merger is based on the merged entity's "greater capacity to invest in advanced networks and services across New York State." The Institute also commends the transaction because of its potential to provide a "robust low-income broadband offering."

#### PULP

The Public Utility Law Project of New York, Inc. (PULP) states that it neither opposes nor supports the Petitioners' proposal. However, in the event the Commission elects to approve the transaction, PULP makes several recommendations for commitments which the companies should be required to make to "directly advance the public interest." In general, these commitments fall in four general areas.

-7-

First, the PULP comments address the specific needs of some customers for a low-cost broadband service and of some lowincome customers for a Lifeline broadband. PULP also observes that some representations have been made to suggest that New Charter will offer service at a significant discount to an expanded group of low-income customers. PULP asserts, however, that the Petitioners have not demonstrated how or if the proposed merger will provide fast and reliable broadband service, within the six month time table described in the petition. To resolve this ambiguity, PULP recommends that, if the Commission approves the transaction, it should require New Charter to offer to all customers a "low-cost high-speed broadband Internet service of approximately 25 Mbps downstream and 1-3 Mbps upstream at a cost of \$10 or less per month without undue delay upon the closure of the merger."

With respect to telephone service, PULP observes that TWC is currently classified as an ETC and, therefore, the recipient of support for offering a telephone Lifeline rate to low-income customers. PULP's comments recommend that the Commission seek a commitment from the Petitioners that it will maintain ETC status for those portions of the combined service territory that are currently served by a telephone Lifeline program and that it will seek ETC status in the remainder of the combined service territory so that the telephone Lifeline program can be extended to those areas as well.

Second, PULP voices several concerns with the Petitioners' commitments to the build-out for broadband service throughout the combined service territory. PULP acknowledges that the Petitioners have indicated their intent to invest \$2.5 billion for infrastructure in commercial areas, to build one million line extensions, and to deploy over 300,000 out-of-home WiFi access points. PULP suggests that the Commission require

```
-8-
```

that a significant portion of the commercial build-out commitment will be directed toward distressed census tracts, that more than 50% of the New York State portion of the 1 million new lines should be directed to rural and distressed census tracts outside of New York City, and that the proposed WiFi deployment should include areas where cellular broadband and voice have incomplete coverage.

PULP's concerns with respect to broadband deployment in general also highlight the fact that Charter currently offers service without a separate modem fee, while TWC's offers its services with a separate modem fee. Under these circumstances, PULP asserts that, while the cost of Charter broadband service is today lower than that of TWC, if Charter follows the TWC practice and imposes a separate modem fee post-merger, this price advantage may disappear. PULP recommends that the Commission require New Charter to offer service without imposing a separate modem fee.

The third of PULP's concerns focuses on service quality and the low levels of customer satisfaction that TWC has achieved. To address this concern, PULP urges the Commission to condition any approval of the proposed transaction on a requirement to develop a "service quality improvement plan with a negative revenue adjustment similar to those applicable over time to the other dominant New York telephone corporations such as Verizon and Frontier" and with one element of this plan requiring the issuance of a "publically available service quality report."

PULP's final concern is for the development of a new "social contract" fashioned on an agreement identified by that name and reached over 20 years ago in an FCC proceeding that resolved disputed rate increases and committed TWC to a five year program to invest more than \$4 billion to improve its cable

-9-

systems. Given the scope of the investments described in the Petition, PULP does not propose the specific elements of its proposed social contract. However, it emphasizes that such a program would "aid in the economic development of New York's lowest-income, rural and most economically-challenged census tracts." It should also "make available high-speed low-cost broadband service(s) as universally available on a retail basis."

## Stop the Cap

Stop the Cap! (S/C) is largely supportive on the views expressed by Staff in its comments. As a bottom line, S/C emphasizes that it is the petitioners' burden to establish that the proposed transaction is in the public interest and that, since the petitioners have not met this burden, the petition should be denied.

S/C observes that most of upstate NY is not well positioned to obtain high speed broadband service. Currently and unless a customer could also be served by Verizon FiOS, TWC is the only provider of broadband service at or above 25 Mbps. While the comments recognize that the Petitioners describe service improvements which will accompany the merger and which will increase the standard offer in the Charter/TWC footprint to 60 Mbps with an option to take 100 Mbps service, neither the petitioners nor any other telecommunications service provider has offered gigabit speed service. S/C notes, however, that in other jurisdictions Google or AT&T have such service offerings.

The S/C comments next ask the Commission to determine whether Charter or TWC is better positioned to deliver services. They urge that TWC is the better choice for this purpose because it has made significant investments in its infrastructure, and, apparently, intends to do so in the future, without assuming "an

-10-

irresponsible amount of debt." These investments include the introduction of TW Maxx service which will accommodate broadband speeds up to 300 Mbps. S/C argues that TWC's introduction of the Maxx service will be completed for all service territories within the next 24-36 months - approximately the same time frame as New Charter would complete the upgrades to its system.

S/C recognizes that, while TWC expects its most popular plan to offer service at 50/5 Mbps, the target offering for New Charter is 60/5 Mpbs service and that the S/C offering, therefore, is incrementally better, it also compares the service offerings available at higher speeds and at more economical lower speeds. As reported above, the service options provided by TWC will include much higher speeds (up to 300 Mbps) than the petitioners contend will be available from New Charter.

Regarding more economical services, S/C asserts that they anticipate that New Charter will not continue TWC's \$14.99 Everyday Low Price Internet service and S/C characterizes this service as "a very important offer for low-income residents and senior citizens who are unable to afford the nearly \$60 regular price both companies charge for their 50 or 60Mbps tiers." S/C notes that TWC "offers this tier without preconditions, restricted qualifiers, contracts, or limits on what types of services can be bundled with it. Any consumer qualifies for the service and can bundle it with Time Warner Cable telephone service for an additional \$10 a month."

In response to criticism of its low-price offerings and of the absence of any low-income program at Charter, petitioners indicate that they will use an existing program at another merger participant as a model for a new program for the merged Charter and TWC systems. S/C has examined this existing program and found that: the program is only available to households with a child enrolled in the National School Lunch

-11-

Program; the program would be unavailable to existing New Charter customers; that the program is unavailable to customers with arrears older than 12 months; enrollment is only permitted from mid-August to mid-September; and enrollment cannot be completed over the Internet. Based on its research, S/C recommends that:

Charter Communications be compelled to continue Time Warner's \$14.99 Internet plan, but at speeds no less than 25Mbps, the minimum definition of entry-level "broadband" by the FCC. We also recommend Charter be required to further discount this plan to \$9.95 a month for qualified customers who meet a simple income test the Commission can define and establish. These discount programs should not just be available to families with school-age children. Everyone needs affordable Internet access, whether you are single and looking for your first job or a fixed income senior citizen. All restrictions for existing customers or those with an outstanding balance must be prohibited and sign-ups must be accepted 365 days a year with requalification occurring not more than once annually.

S/C, which opposes to application of charges based on data caps or similar mechanisms, criticizes the Petitioners' proposal for its commitment to provide customers with unlimited data usage for only the initial post-merger three year period. S/C urges that this commitment, as well as commitments not to charge modem fees and to support the basic principles of net neutrality should be extended well beyond that period.

In S/C's view, the commitment by TWC to forego usage caps or usage billing is more firm and not in any way time bound. S/C concludes its discussion of usage caps or usage charges by noting that the Internet can provide the customer with television programming and movies which competes with the content that is supplied over the cable television system. Usage caps or usage charges make the Internet supplied content

-12-

more expensive and, therefore, tilt that competitive market in favor of the cable television provider.

S/C's also comments on the levels of debt that will be incurred by New Charter in connection with the proposed transaction. It observes that:

[d]ebt servicing costs and more expensive credit are both deterrents to investment and are likely to limit the scope of Charter's ongoing system upgrades and maintenance. Charter is a much smaller cable operator than Time Warner Cable, and is itself still in the process of repairing and upgrading its own cable systems and those it acquired in earlier acquisition deals. Time Warner Cable, in contrast, is in a much stronger financial position to carry out its commitments associated with the Maxx upgrade program...But the Commission must look carefully at Charter's financial capacity to meet these obligations after assuming control of a company much larger than itself. No commitment is worth much if a company ultimately fails to deliver on it.

S/C's comments include its assertion that, by merging with TWC, Charter will be able to obtain video programming at less cost. As New Charter's costs for video programming go down, it will have a greater and greater competitive advantage over potential new entrants in the cable television markets. This advantage will insulate New Charter, to some extent, from competition.

S/C also strongly recommends that New Charter should be required as a condition of this merger to continue the TWC Maxx upgrade initiative so that all service territories, including the upstate service territories, can obtain this service. It further recommends that this upgrade should be completed within 30 months and that the upgrade facilities should support gigabit broadband service.

-13-

Finally, the S/C comments recommend that any approval of the proposed transaction be accompanied by effective enforcement tools to increase the incentive for New Charter to give consumers a better deal or better service.

In conclusion, S/C states:

Our group strongly believes New York should not take a risk on Charter's less-than-compelling offer when Time Warner Cable has demonstrated it is in a better financial position and has a proven track record of delivering on its commitments to improve service with its Maxx upgrade project. Time Warner Cable has superior options for low-income New Yorkers, has a large number of New York-based call centers providing valuable employment for our residents, offers more broadband options and faster speeds for entrepreneurs remaking themselves in the digital/information economy, and has committed to providing unlimited Internet access - a critical prerequisite for consumers choosing to drop cable television's onesize-fits-all bloated video package and watch only the shows they want to see and pay for online.

## MFRConsulting

MFRConsulting states that the debt associated with the transaction creates inherent risks. These risks, including potential underinvestment, or even bankruptcy, in the event that the debt associated with the transaction is burdensome to service. Specifically, the comments state that New Charter may not have enough free cash flow to satisfy its debt obligations. MFRConsulting notes that Charter declared bankruptcy in 2009 and that the risk of a similar future situation could result in harm to broadband customers, suppliers, and franchise obligations as well as risk progress in closing the digital divide.

-14-

# Other Commenters

Many individual commenters, primarily customers of Time Warner Cable, urge the Commission to deny the merger because they state their bills are already too high and that the merger will only increase these prices. They also argue that Time Warner's poor service quality will only get worse as a result of the merger. Other commenters, including a number of non-profits, schools, municipalities, and community groups state that the Commission should only approve the merger on the condition that New Charter offer faster broadband speeds following the transaction. These same organizations generally expressed support for a low-income broadband program. Other issues raised by these commenters include requiring that New Charter continue and expand PEG obligations, provide a la carte programming choices, and fairly renegotiate local franchise agreements.